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          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to the next to last public hearing on the

          4  Mayor's Executive Budget for Fiscal 2008. My name is

          5  David Weprin, I Chair the Council's Finance

          6  Committee. The first segment of today's budget

          7  hearing is in conjunction with the Council's

          8  Transportation Committee, Chaired by my colleague on

          9  my immediate left, Chair John Liu.

         10                 Together we will review the proposed

         11  budgets of the Department of Transportation and the

         12  MTA. This morning the Council plans to discuss,

         13  among other things, the effect PlaNYC will have on

         14  the Expense and Capital Budgets of DOT. It is my

         15  understanding that the proposed Fiscal 2008 budget

         16  for DOT's Streets and Highways Program reflect a 20

         17  percent increase in funding, largely due to PlaNYC

         18  Initiatives. DOT's bus initiative would dedicate an

         19  HOV lane for buses over the East River Bridges,

         20  whereas the Bike Network Development Program would

         21  create an additional 200 miles of bike lanes. So far

         22  the Council has not received an abundance of details

         23  regarding PlaNYC, so we look forward to hearing from

         24  the Administration on specifics of the plan.

         25                 After the Department's testimony, the
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          2  Committee will be receiving testimony regarding

          3  MTA's budget. I am eager to hear from the MTA on the

          4  progress that has been made on the construction of

          5  the Second Avenue Subway Line, after two

          6  ground-breaking ceremonies, the last taking place in

          7  1972, prior to this one, I was pleased to see

          8  another and more recent one took place last month.

          9  In light of the City's growing population and

         10  increases in ridership on the City's subway, the

         11  Second Avenue line will benefit all New Yorkers, so

         12  I certainly hope this ground-breaking ceremony will

         13  be the last.

         14                 We look forward to hearing from the

         15  MTA regarding the construction and other MTA

         16  projects. Following MTA's testimony and prior to the

         17  public's testimony this afternoon, we will be

         18  reviewing the Expense budget of the Department of

         19  Education in conjunction with the Council's

         20  Education Committee Chair, Robert Jackson.

         21                 The projected Expense Budget of the

         22  Department of Education, which at $20 billion,

         23  including debt service and pension cost, comprises

         24  almost one-third of New York City's entire budget.

         25  Unfortunately, this amount does not include 30
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          2  million for essential Council initiatives, such as

          3  Teachers' Choice, Urban Advantage, and Consortium of

          4  Worker Education. It is appalling that once again,

          5  despite the Council's continuing efforts, and in a

          6  year when the City is experiencing enormous budget

          7  surplus, we are engaged in this annual ritual where

          8  the Council is required to focus its energies on

          9  restoring these programs just to see them cut the

         10  following year, so the budget dance continues.

         11  Although a few steps have been eliminated.

         12                 As I have previously mentioned, as

         13  Chair of the Finance Committee I am committed to

         14  changing that dance. While I have recognized that

         15  old habits die hard, we may not be able to change

         16  the budget dialogue overnight, I still believe it is

         17  important to embark on a more sensible path to

         18  negotiating a budget and I will work hard to see

         19  these programs are baselined in the future.

         20                 Before I turn the mic over to my

         21  Co-Chair, I just want to introduce those members

         22  that are here, and we will be joined by more members

         23  as the morning progresses. We have our Deputy

         24  Majority Leader, Councilman Leroy Comrie from

         25  Queens, and Councilman Joe Addabbo from Queens.
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          2                 Commissioner, there is a honeymoon

          3  grace period that you're entitled to, since you're

          4  new on the job, but I was happy to have the former

          5  Commissioner Weinshall yesterday here with

          6  Chancellor Matt Goldstein, and I indicated to her

          7  that I expected us to give her less of a hard time

          8  in her new position than we did in her older

          9  position, but it's not a personal reflection on the

         10  person holding the job, as much as some of the

         11  issues that often come up. But we'll still allow for

         12  that, at least I will allow for that brief honeymoon

         13  period. I can't speak for Chairman Liu.

         14                 Chair Liu.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Thank

         16  you, Council Member Weprin. I don't know if it's a

         17  honeymoon. I think we want to always have a

         18  perpetual and indefinite good working relationship,

         19  so I think, Commissioner Sadik-Khan, we certainly

         20  welcome you to your new post, and have every

         21  expectation that things will be very smooth and that

         22  we will work closely with you, that there will be no

         23  rough patches. For Dave Woloch, on the other hand,

         24  it might be a different story. No, I'm just kidding.

         25  Dave and I actually go back a long, a long, long
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          2  way.

          3                 We are really happy to have this

          4  joint hearing between the Transportation Committee

          5  and the Finance Committee to go over the Executive

          6  Budget. There are some changes from the Preliminary

          7  Budget as proposed by the Mayor to account for the

          8  proposals that he has made in his visionary PlaNYC

          9  proposals. And so we look forward to reviewing some

         10  of the changes there. And especially, we would also

         11  like to hear a little bit more about the application

         12  for federal funding for congestion pricing, and how

         13  that funding could benefit not only the congestion

         14  pricing scheme itself, but actually create more

         15  revenues for both buses and ferry service in New

         16  York City. I think any time there is federal funding

         17  involved, we should never forego it, we should

         18  pursue that federal funding with full vigor.

         19                 And later we will all hear from

         20  officials from the MTA, who we expect will give us a

         21  little bit about how PlaNYC would affect the

         22  operations and the finances of the MTA, and also to

         23  delve into a couple of specific initiatives that the

         24  MTA has proposed specifically with regard to the new

         25  payment and entry systems that they have talked
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          2  about. It's a pay pass or a Smart card system that

          3  other cities throughout the world have implemented,

          4  and for some reason, it is actually costing a

          5  significant amount of New York City Transit's budget

          6  projected for the coming years.

          7                 So, with that, let me welcome Council

          8  Member Jessica Lappin, a member of the

          9  Transportation Committee, and Council Member Helen

         10  Sears, a member of the Finance Committee, and we

         11  certainly welcome our new distinguished Department

         12  of Transportation Commissioner, Janette Sadik-Khan

         13  and her wonderful team for joining us today.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, good

         15  morning, Chairman Liu, Weprin and members of the

         16  Transportation and Finance Committee. I will add

         17  that I'm looking forward to this honeymoon period. I

         18  have been married for 17 years and still consider

         19  myself to be on a honeymoon period and hopefully

         20  that precedent will extend through my tenure at New

         21  York City DOT.

         22                 I am Janette Sadik-Khan, Commissioner

         23  of New York City Department of Transportation, and

         24  with me today is Conan Freud, Deputy Commissioner

         25  for Administrative Services and David Woloch, Deputy
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          2  Commissioner for External Affairs, and you can see

          3  in the first three rows my fine team at New York

          4  City DOT.

          5                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          6  discuss DOT's budget and to update you on my

          7  priorities for the coming year.

          8                 But before I begin, as Council Member

          9  Weprin mentioned, I want to thank Commissioner

         10  Weinshall and First Deputy Commissioner Bergtraum

         11  for their leadership of the Agency over the past six

         12  years and also for their tremendous help in

         13  assisting me in this transition period.

         14                 As you mentioned, it's my second week

         15  on the job and my first time appearing before you so

         16  let me say that I am honored to be here today and I

         17  will work to answer as many questions as I can

         18  during my short tenure at the agency.

         19                 Let me turn to the DOT budget.  DOT's

         20  Expense Budget for FY 2008 is $621 million. This

         21  funding will provide DOT with the resources to meet

         22  the transportation needs of New York City.

         23  Specifically, funding for the 65,000 daily

         24  passengers on the Staten Island Ferry, which

         25  operates 365 days a year, to do maintenance and
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          2  repair work on the City's 787 bridges, ensue the

          3  structural integrity of the Historic East River

          4  Bridges, repave 950 lane miles of City streets,

          5  which is 50 lane miles more than we did last year,

          6  and to maintain the City's 20,000 lane miles of

          7  streets.

          8                 DOT funds will also be used to power

          9  and maintain approximately 300,000 street lights,

         10  over 12,000 traffic signals and 1.3 million signs

         11  across the City, and to maintain the 47 City-owned

         12  parking facilities.  The budget also provides

         13  funding to fulfill the Mayor's commitment to install

         14  70 miles of bike lanes and routes.

         15                 DOT has an aggressive program for

         16  Fiscal Year 2008 on the Capital side that includes

         17  the beginning of the construction phase to replace

         18  the Willis Avenue Bridge, and we will also begin

         19  construction of the East 105th Street Bridge in the

         20  Bronx, the first cable-stayed bridge to be erected

         21  in the City.  The graceful design of this new bridge

         22  will create a prominent landmark for the Concourse

         23  Village neighborhood and is part of the City's

         24  efforts to revitalize the South Bronx.  We will also

         25  begin several roadway projects including the
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          2  reconstruction of Fifth Avenue from 24th to 34th

          3  Streets in Brooklyn, which will begin this summer

          4  and will improve the quality of life in the Sunset

          5  Park neighborhood.

          6                 In addition, on Staten Island, we

          7  will begin making improvements at five intersections

          8  along Hylan Boulevard later this fall, which will

          9  enhance the safety of the New Dorp, Bay terrace and

         10  Great Kills neighborhoods.

         11                 We also expect to let a contract to

         12  add 2,200 traffic signals to our computerized signal

         13  network. And after this project is completed

         14  approximately 8,200 of the City's over 12,300

         15  signalized locations will be under centralized

         16  computer control, which will allow us to control the

         17  timing of more signals and enhance our ability to

         18  improve traffic flow and respond on a real-time

         19  basis to traffic incidents in more areas of the

         20  City.

         21                 Our plan also includes funding in

         22  both our Expense and Capital budgets related to

         23  PlaNYC, which Council Member Liu and Weprin

         24  mentioned.  In all, PlaNYC calls for the investment

         25  of $852 million over the next 10 years to improve
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          2  the roads, bridges and sidewalks of New York City.

          3  Of the $852 million, $371 million will come from the

          4  City Capital budget, which will includes investments

          5  over the next 10 years of $131 million for new

          6  public plazas throughout the City; $15 million to

          7  improve access to subway and bus system; $123

          8  million to reduce congestion on critical corridors

          9  and growing neighborhoods throughout the City; $52

         10  million for ITS investments that will improve our

         11  management of the road network and provide more

         12  information to drivers and other users of the

         13  transportation system; $5.4 million for new bicycle

         14  lanes and routes; and $46 million for roadway

         15  improvements to improve bus service, including BRT

         16  and new bus service over the East River bridges.

         17                 We are moving quickly to begin

         18  implementation and we recognize that for PlaNYC to

         19  be successful we need to start now to improve our

         20  transportation network.  Toward that end, our FY '08

         21  work includes starting construction work on six

         22  public plazas; constructing new sidewalks at bus

         23  stops under elevated tracks; implementing 70 lane

         24  miles of new bike facilities; completing nine

         25  congested corridor studies; and making bus
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          2  improvements, including the implementation of two

          3  BRT corridors.

          4                 PlaNYC will address the challenges

          5  that we face as we add 900,000 people to our

          6  population and take on the challenges of global

          7  warming.  A key element of our strategy is to

          8  implement a congestion pricing program for Manhattan

          9  that will reduce congestion throughout the City and

         10  provide the necessary funds to improve transit in

         11  both the short and in the long run.

         12                 As the Mayor has said, it's our

         13  responsibility to act now so that we can ensure the

         14  health and quality of life for everyone today and

         15  for generations to come.

         16                 The critical transportation

         17  initiatives in PlaNYC go hand-in-hand with what I

         18  consider to be my top priorities as DOT

         19  Commissioner.  Over the next three months, DOT will

         20  develop a new strategic business plan, mapping out

         21  what our goals and priorities will be for the next

         22  two-and-a-half years and how we will meet them.

         23                 As we move forward on this plan, we

         24  will listen to the concerns of communities, identify

         25  programs to protect our most vulnerable citizens and
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          2  improve the efficiency of our existing programs.  We

          3  will look for new and innovative strategies to

          4  accomplish these goals.

          5                 The strategic business plan has four

          6  main goals:  First, improving safety.  Anyone

          7  involved in running a transportation organization of

          8  any kind has to put safety first.  And I aim to make

          9  our streets even safer for all users, from children

         10  to seniors, from motorists to bicyclists and ferry

         11  riders.

         12                 Specifically, we are going to work

         13  toward performing a City-wide comprehensive

         14  pedestrian fatality and injury analysis; continue to

         15  move forward on a safer school program; to advance

         16  our school capital program at our first group of 12

         17  schools including neck downs and medians to slow

         18  traffic and better protect our school children and

         19  by adding another 135 school locations to the Safe

         20  Routes Program; implementing traffic measures

         21  throughout the five boroughs, from speed bumps to

         22  bike lanes to increasing crossing time for

         23  pedestrians.

         24                 We are also going to build on our

         25  Safety and Security Enhancement Program at the
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          2  Staten Island Ferry, including retrofitting all

          3  vessels with electronic chart display information

          4  systems, implementing a computerized based

          5  maintenance management system; and completing

          6  security enhancements at the St. George Terminal.

          7                 Second, we are going to focus on

          8  unclogging our network.  We are going to look for

          9  quick opportunities to get things moving better by

         10  expanding our muni-meter coverage from 14th to 22nd

         11  Street, from 9th Avenue to 2nd Avenue in Manhattan;

         12  exploring residential parking permit programs to

         13  assist with neighborhood parking needs; use IT

         14  technology to increase bus speeds by extending green

         15  lights to allow them through intersections;

         16  implementing our first bus rapid transit lines; and

         17  rethinking our ferry "build it and they will come"

         18  philosophy by working with EDC to encourage private

         19  operators to enter the market and provide private

         20  ferry services, as we are pursuing for the

         21  Rockaways.

         22                 We are also going to be looking to do

         23  more to keep trucks on approved routes by expanding

         24  our pilot placard program where NYPD officers have a

         25  truck route map in their memo books to better equip
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          2  them on enforcement.

          3                 We also plan to implement many of the

          4  recommendations in the Citywide Truck Study,

          5  including the posting of additional positive and

          6  negative signage, route amendments, engineering

          7  improvements and implementing the new Citywide

          8  Signage Program.

          9                 We also are going to be expanding our

         10  efforts to reduce parking placards used by

         11  government officials.

         12                 Third, we are going to focus on

         13   "greening" our transportation system.  We will do

         14  more to improve the environment across the City by

         15  continuing to expand the bike network by installing

         16  160 miles of new bike lanes and routes over the next

         17  two fiscal years with a focus on making connections

         18  to existing facilities and putting a bike network

         19  backbone in place.

         20                 I look forward to working

         21  collaboratively with the Council on legislation to

         22  expand the accessibility of bike storage in

         23  buildings to encourage New Yorkers to bike.

         24                 We are also going to be moving

         25  forward with a trial program this year at our Staten
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          2  Island Ferry operation to retrofit our fleet of

          3  ferryboats with emissions reduction upgrades;

          4  implement the use of bio diesel and ultra-low sulfur

          5  fuel and investigate the feasibility of using Diesel

          6  Oxidation Catalyst.  We are also going to be working

          7  to purchase more hybrid vehicles and expand our use

          8  of clean fuels.

          9                 Fourth, but not least, creating

         10  better streets.  We will accelerate and improve our

         11  work on street and highway surfaces and

         12  infrastructure by planning and implementing

         13   "complete streets".  These are streets that are not

         14  just designed for vehicles, but corridors designed

         15  to better accommodate pedestrians, green space,

         16  bicyclists and transit.  We are going to focus on

         17  bringing quality design to our streets through our

         18  street furniture initiative by converting 650 of the

         19  City's bus stop shelters and replacing 40 newsstands

         20  this year.

         21                 We will also be pursuing a state of

         22  good repair for the City's 20,000 lane miles of

         23  streets and its 787 bridges to ensure that they are

         24  built to last.

         25                 I look forward to working with the
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          2  Members of the Council on these transportation

          3  initiatives, as well as other DOT related issues,

          4  constituent matters and legislation.  I ask that you

          5  join me and this Administration as we move forward

          6  with our PlaNYC agenda to create safer streets,

          7  reduce congestion, enhance the health of our

          8  citizens, improve mobility and bring more

          9  transportation choices to our communities.

         10                 Again, it is my honor to present our

         11  budget to you today.  And at this time, I would be

         12  happy to answer any questions that you may have,

         13  understanding that it is my honeymoon period.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         15  Commissioner. You do have a honeymoon period but

         16  that doesn't change certain positions that I have or

         17  questions I have regarding some of the proposed

         18  plans in the Administration.

         19                 We have been joined by Council Member

         20  Dan Garodnick from Manhattan.  Welcome.

         21                 I'm a little confused.  In your

         22  testimony you refer to adding $123 million, I

         23  believe to the Capital Budget to reduce congestion

         24  on critical corridors and growing neighborhoods

         25  throughout the City, but then you also are
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          2  proposing, along with the Mayor, this congestion

          3  pricing scheme, as I like to call it, which is

          4  really a congestion pricing tax on the four boroughs

          5  outside of Manhattan for people coming into

          6  Manhattan. Eight dollars for cars, twenty-one

          7  dollars for commercial vehicles, which will result

          8  in hundreds of millions of dollars in revenue.

          9                 So this $123 million is in addition

         10  to what you anticipate to be $300 million plus in

         11  revenue if this congestion tax was imposed?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN:  The $123

         13  million Council Member, is included in the ten-year

         14  plan.  So that is part of the PlaNYC initiative to

         15  improve transportation and mobility throughout the

         16  City.  So the $123 million is part of that ten-year

         17  program.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Give me a couple

         19  of examples of ways you would use that money to

         20  reduce congestion, other than a tax.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well the

         22  improvements themselves are looking at ways to

         23  improve bus service, expedite bus service and

         24  express bus route service to improve spiking

         25  networks across the City, to look for alternative
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          2  ways to enhance the mobility of people that are in

          3  these congested quarters, looking forward.

          4                 There are lots of ways that people

          5  characterize what it is that we use to subsidize our

          6  transit systems.  You know, when we pay tolls over

          7  the bridges at the tolls, when we go to a parking

          8  garage that's a parking fee.

          9                 You could look at the fact that today

         10  New Yorkers across the region basically already pay

         11  a tax. It's a time tax.  That's what is associated

         12  with the $13 billion in delays that the New York

         13  City partnership is identified in terms of the time

         14  lost, and the loss in productivity associated with

         15  the delays that we have on our system today.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm glad that you

         17  mentioned the time tax because I represent a

         18  District in Eastern Queens, which you may or may not

         19  know is not readily accessible to public

         20  transportation.  As a matter of fact the nearest

         21  subway to most of my constituents is about four to

         22  five miles.  The closest subway to the western part

         23  of my district is about a mile, which is 179th

         24  Street in Jamaica.

         25                 So, my constituents often decide to
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          2  drive into Manhattan, not because they enjoy the, as

          3  you say, the time issue or dealing with traffic,

          4  because even with the traffic it's still the fastest

          5  way for them to get into Manhattan.

          6                 I've had situations where

          7  constituents of mine have taken public

          8  transportation, which generally means taking two

          9  buses to a subway, or taking a bus to an express

         10  bus, or I guess you could get driven to any of those

         11  combinations, and it often takes about two hours to

         12  commute from Eastern Queens to Manhattan and despite

         13  how bad driving conditions are, you still can do it

         14  in an hour or less.  Probably about an hour I guess

         15  on most days, of course there always exceptions.

         16                 That's one of the reasons why I've

         17  taken a very strong position against the Mayor's

         18  proposed congestion tax and I do call it a tax.  And

         19  I know the Mayor did refer to the fact that, he

         20  agreed that we have to have major expansion of

         21  public transportation to those areas that are not

         22  accessible before we implement this plan.

         23                 But I still don't see anything in any

         24  of the Capital Plan for extending the subway from

         25  179th Street to the Nassau border, which is where my
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          2  district goes to, or any major other infrastructure

          3  in the subways or major expansion of bus lines that

          4  would even come close to allowing my constituents

          5  who now drive.  And it isn't the majority of my

          6  constituents, but it is a certain percentage of

          7  people who really feel that they have no other

          8  alternative but to get into Manhattan.

          9                 What's being done as far as trying to

         10  specifically improve that transportation and do you

         11  know, and I guess it's more of an MTA question,

         12  since they control the subways.  I know there is

         13  discussions among yourselves.  Is there a plan at

         14  all to extend the subway out to Eastern Queens?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: There are

         16  many questions associated with that. One statement

         17  Council Member. I think the important piece here is

         18  that the top four counties in the United States with

         19  the slowest travel time to work are in Queens,

         20  Staten Island, Brooklyn and the Bronx.  Mayor

         21  Bloomberg's plan is designed to help address those

         22  travel times and to sort of speed the plow getting

         23  people to work more quickly.

         24                 The commuters in your district that

         25  drive alone to work are about 23 percent of your
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          2  district.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, that's a

          4  good percentage.

          5                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: And 68

          6  percent of your constituents travel to the central

          7  business district using transit.  So we are looking

          8  to benefit the 68 percent of those residents that

          9  commute to the central business district via

         10  transit.  So that is one of the elements that we

         11  need to focus on understanding who is affected by

         12  this program.

         13                 In addition, the Mayor has outlined a

         14  program targeted to 22 neighborhoods and focusing

         15  improvements to address the issues that you raise in

         16  terms of the ability for residents to get to the

         17  central business district.

         18                 In Bayside, we are looking at

         19  neighborhood improvements that include doubling the

         20  QM3 service frequency and emphasizing improvements

         21  on the Q31 local bus.

         22                 As you mentioned there are also

         23  substantial transportation improvements associated

         24  with the MTA's plan, including the lower Manhattan

         25  rail link, Eastside access, et cetera.  And those
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          2  programs can be funded through the SMART Fund that

          3  the Mayor has proposed without which we will not be

          4  able to move forward with a full build on these

          5  programs.  There is approximately $31 billion gap in

          6  the 22 projects that we need to ensure that this

          7  region continues to function and that we are able to

          8  be that greater greener City in the year 2030.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, you know

         10  I'm still not convinced. A couple of things.  One is

         11  this eight dollar tax, whether we'll actually reduce

         12  ridership or just be an additional tax on the middle

         13  class that people feel they have to absorb and have

         14  no choice, similar to the recent eleven and one-half

         15  percent increase by the Water Board on top of a

         16  nine-and-one-half percent increase last year for 21

         17  percent increase over two years and all the other

         18  taxes that have gone up, although we are trying to

         19  reduce property taxes.

         20                 One is, I'm not convinced that the

         21  extra eight dollars will encourage or prevent people

         22  from driving into Manhattan.  And if it did reduce

         23  some people from driving into Manhattan, what I

         24  think you would see at least from my district, is

         25  people driving to other areas outside of Manhattan
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          2  in order to take public transportation, such as the

          3  Long Island City area, such as the downtown Brooklyn

          4  area.  What is being done if that happened, to

          5  reduce congestion in those areas?  Because those are

          6  neighborhoods, which I'm not sure could take the

          7  additional potential traffic if all of a sudden

          8  everybody that drove into Manhattan decides they

          9  don't want to pay the extra eight dollars, then they

         10  are going to drive to the perimeters.  There is

         11  still no other way to get to public transportation

         12  from my area for the most part other than to drive

         13  to it.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN:  Well

         15  actually about 80 percent of the workers, who are

         16  commuting to the central business district, will be

         17  able to get to their destination with no more than

         18  additional 15 minutes added to their existing drive

         19  time. So we are focusing on improving the benefits

         20  for those people that are not able to accept the

         21  existing system.

         22                 If you take a look at your district

         23  there is a four-to-one ratio in terms of people that

         24  will be travelling by transit versus commuting by

         25  car and we are targeting improvements to address the
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          2  issues associated with those individuals who are

          3  unable to get to the existing transit lines at the

          4  current moment.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I'm still

          6  not convinced that this extra tax is going to do

          7  anything.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, the

          9  additional fees that are going to be generated by

         10  the congestion pricing program will be used to fund

         11  the transportation improvements that are detailed in

         12  the plan, whether it is Eastside access, whether it

         13  is access to the region's core, whether it is Second

         14  Avenue subway, whether it is a state of good repair,

         15  and a state of good repair Grand City MTA.  These

         16  are critical investments that we need to make to

         17  ensure that our transit lines aren't continuing to

         18  experience the congestion levels that they are

         19  experiencing today and that our drivers are actually

         20  able to get through and access the central business

         21  district.

         22                 At this point in time we are

         23  basically stuck in gridlock many hours of the day

         24  and you can see many residents and commercial

         25  delivery folks that are stuck for 45 minutes at
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          2  various crossings, just trying to get into the City.

          3    If we don't do anything about that now, then that

          4  situation is only going to be worse and we will

          5  literally be stuck, stopped in traffic if we don't

          6  start to make the investments now that we need to

          7  ensure that we have a workable, accessible system.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, I agree 100

          9  percent with you that we need to do these

         10  improvements, but I don't think another tax is the

         11  way to go.  We do have a $5 billion surplus so we

         12  have significant revenue there. We just got an

         13  eleven-and-one-half percent water rate hike. A good

         14  portion of that is going to go into the general fund

         15  because we have already exceeded the limit where we

         16  are paying off debt service.  So there is excess

         17  payment due to rental agreements, which I don't

         18  think is a topic for another discussion, something

         19  that I don't necessarily agree with.  But, the fact

         20  is that that extra money does go into the general

         21  fund.  Property tax assessments, the actual value of

         22  people's homes and commercial property has

         23  skyrocketed and as a result even though we have

         24  lowered the rate, are attempting to lower the rate,

         25  the actual dollars that people are paying have gone
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          2  up significantly because of the assessment.

          3                 All that revenue has led to the

          4  surplus and all that revenue can be used under the

          5  current system without an additional tax to make

          6  these improvements. Isn't that a fact?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well I don't

          8  believe that there are the revenues in place that

          9  will allow us to make the investments that we need

         10  to address the issues that we confront right now and

         11  as we look at 2030.

         12                 The PlaNYC model work estimates using

         13  an eight dollar charge and transit improvements that

         14  will basically reduce traffic below 86th Street by

         15  6.3 percent, and increase roadway improvements by

         16  7.2 percent. If there is another model out there, I

         17  think we are open to discussing it, but we believe

         18  that this is the best way for us to both address the

         19  congestion situation we have today, address the

         20  health issues that we have today, and bring on line

         21  the dedicated revenues that we need to finance our

         22  future.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I

         24  understand Mayor Bloomberg was up in Albany last

         25  week pushing his congestion pricing tax.  My
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          2  understanding was he still had significant

          3  resistance and opposition in the legislature,

          4  particularly legislators outside of Manhattan.  It

          5  doesn't look to me like it's something that is going

          6  to happen this session, if at all.  If I had my way,

          7  it wouldn't happen at all.

          8                 Can you fill us in on what Plan B is?

          9  What's the next step, assuming the legislature

         10  doesn't act, which I don't expect them to act on it.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, it is

         12  my understanding that the Mayor had a good reception

         13  up in Albany and that our state legislators are

         14  taking a serious look at this proposal and that

         15  their discussions are underway about moving forward

         16  with this legislation in this legislative session.

         17  If it does not happen in this legislative session,

         18  there are obviously future sessions for this to

         19  happen in, but the Mayor is convinced and Deputy

         20  Mayor Doctoroff are convinced that there is

         21  significant progress being made and that once the

         22  officials are being briefed on the plan, there seems

         23  to be a much greater receptivity for this program.

         24  Obviously it's seen as a third-rail in politics and

         25  so it's a difficult issue to get your hands behind
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          2  as a politician.

          3                 But, I think everyone understands

          4  that the funding gap is too large.  That the

          5  congestion situation we sit in is untenable.  And

          6  really, if you take a look at the health impact

          7  associated with doing nothing, we're compromising

          8  the health of future generations by not addressing

          9  the problem right up front.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, you know I

         11  think we should reduce congestion in Manhattan, but

         12  the problem is there are other things that can be

         13  done very easily that wouldn't require this

         14  additional tax on residents outside of Manhattan.

         15                 For example.  Anyone who has driven

         16  in Manhattan recently would notice that there is a

         17  tremendous increase in double and triple parked cars

         18  everywhere you go.  There is no traffic enforcement.

         19    There is nobody preventing cars from double and

         20  triple parking on a regular basis.  If all of a

         21  sudden there was enforcement and reduction of double

         22  and triple parking wouldn't that immediately reduce

         23  congestion?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It's a very

         25  good point Council Member and in fact the Mayor's
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          2  Budget dedicates 117 new traffic enforcement agents

          3  to do just that.  And we will be looking at the

          4  Department for ways to collaborate with our

          5  colleagues at the New York Police Department to

          6  increase the enforcement of hot-spot areas.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  The other

          8  thing that bothers me very much is, if you have ever

          9  been driving in traffic and you are behind a taxi

         10  cab.  Taxi cabs all the time in Manhattan stop in

         11  the middle of the street to pick up and discharge

         12  passengers when the law clearly indicates that they

         13  have to go to the curb.

         14                 I understand that there is a separate

         15  police force affiliated with the Taxi Limousine

         16  Commission that is in charge of enforcement of that.

         17    But if there was a crackdown on taxi cabs, picking

         18  up and discharging passengers in the middle of the

         19  street, I think that would add significantly to

         20  reduce congestion, wouldn't you think?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I think

         22  that's a question for the New York City Police

         23  Department that is working on the enforcement there,

         24  but it certainly seems reasonable.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The other think
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          2  that really bothers me, and I'm not sure that I know

          3  the answer, but maybe you will have a suggestion or

          4  a way to look into it, is the amount of commercial

          5  deliveries that take place in Midtown Manhattan

          6  during the work day.  I know there are other cities

          7  that have experimented or actually implemented

          8  regulations, restricting the deliveries during

          9  working hours, which obviously adds significantly to

         10  double and triple parking and to congestion.

         11                 Has anybody looked into restricting

         12  commercial deliveries during certain hours?

         13  Obviously emergency deliveries have to take place,

         14  maybe in the food area, but there are certainly so

         15  many other deliveries that can take place off hours

         16  at night, early in the morning, that don't have to

         17  take place during the busiest times of the day.  Has

         18  anyone looked into that at all to reduce congestion?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well,

         20  actually that's a key element of the Mayor's Plan,

         21  which looks at restricting by imposing a fee on

         22  trucks that are traveling into the central business

         23  district between 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m.  That is

         24  one way to rationalize the delivery schedule for

         25  trucks that are traveling into Manhattan.
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          2                 In addition, we are looking at

          3  implementing the recommendations from a Citywide

          4  Truck Traffic Study that we recently completed to

          5  address these kind of issues. I would be happy to

          6  work with you and your staff on identifying any

          7  additional improvements that we can make.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Were you talking

          9  about a $21 tax on trucks coming in, which will be

         10  passed onto consumers I have no doubt.  I'm talking

         11  about actually restricting, or you know making it

         12  illegal for deliveries during certain hours.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, I look

         14  forward to working with you on discussing the

         15  elements of the Citywide Traffic Study. As to the

         16  issue about the truck tax, I would say that

         17  basically the congestion, the time tax that they pay

         18  today to get into the City and move around the City

         19  will certainly be eliminated with the congestion

         20  pricing program, which will allow trucks to make

         21  more deliveries and achieve savings that I believe

         22  will be able to be passed along to consumers.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, we could

         24  belabor this point.  I am not convinced.  I still

         25  think the Mayor's proposal is the type of proposal
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          2  that really divides us as a City.  We are five

          3  boroughs coming together as one City. It's a type of

          4  proposal that really pits one borough against

          5  another.

          6                 I represent a district in Queens as

          7  does Chair Liu. We have both airports in our

          8  district.  Can you imagine if we made a proposal

          9  that there should be an additional eight dollar fee

         10  to go into Queens and certainly that would reduce

         11  the traffic to the airports because there is always

         12  traffic going to Kennedy and LaGuardia.  But, I

         13  don't think it's the kind of proposal that really

         14  brings us together as a City.  I think we should be

         15  looking for other proposals to reduce congestion

         16  other than additional tax on our residents.

         17                 Although there is one tax, which I

         18  think would produce over $500 million in revenue

         19  each and every year, maybe up to $700 million now

         20  and that's what we use to have a non-resident income

         21  tax.  It was less than half a percent. It was .45 of

         22  a percent. It was commonly referred to as a commuter

         23  tax but it's not really a commuter tax because it's

         24  really a non-resident income tax similar to the City

         25  of Yonkers has if you work in Yonkers. And it really
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          2  is a kind of tax that is really fair because it

          3  allows people that work in New York City that spend

          4  most of their time in New York City, to help pay for

          5  some of the services that they get on a regular

          6  basis, such as sanitation, such as transportation

          7  services, such as fires, such as police.

          8                 To me that is a much better effort on

          9  behalf of the Administration than spend time in

         10  Albany lobbying to bring back the old non-resident

         11  income tax.  And I think you'll see that the

         12  significant movement in the legislature and the

         13  major opposition was in the Republican Senate.  Now

         14  there is only a two-seat difference between the

         15  Democrats and the Republicans in the Senate.

         16                 I think you have a possibility of

         17  bringing back that five to $700 million in revenue

         18  and you can apply some of that money to some of

         19  these transportation, improvements and

         20  infrastructures.  It's just food for thought.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: May I

         22  respond to that?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Absolutely.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: The Mayor's

         25  Plan addresses the needs of all New Yorkers.  We're
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          2  talking about only dealing with five percent of the

          3  New York City residents who commute to the central

          4  business district by car.  This program benefits 95

          5  percent of New Yorkers.  It improves the travel time

          6  for people that continue to drive into the City.  It

          7  addresses the health issues associated with the

          8  congestion that we breath and omissions that we have

          9  to ingest every day.

         10                 Our children in specific areas of the

         11  City have four times the national rate of asthma.

         12  We can't continue to compromise the health of our

         13  children and seniors and residents without

         14  addressing these kinds of concerns.  So this plan

         15  actually is the most equitable plan that we believe

         16  can be delivered given the fact that 95 percent of

         17  New Yorkers benefit from it.  The five percent that

         18  drive into the City benefit because they have a

         19  speedier ride into the central business district.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, I'm not

         21  convinced of that and also it's another tax that is

         22  going to leave that five percent to consider moving

         23  to other jurisdictions such as Nassau County or

         24  Westchester County or Suffolk County.

         25                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Council
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          2  Member, the 4.7 percent of Queens and Brooklyn

          3  residents that commute to the central business

          4  district, the 4.7 percent of those, 1.4 percent of

          5  those currently use an MTA tunnel and then thus

          6  would not pay the fee and 2.3 percent use a free

          7  bridge, but live within walking distance of a subway

          8  and so they have a viable transit option.  We are

          9  talking about only .9 percent of those individuals

         10  who live beyond subway access and currently use a

         11  free bridge.  And so they are the ones who face the

         12  choice of either driving to work and paying the fee

         13  or taking a two-seat ride.

         14                 So what we are looking to do is

         15  figuring out ways to expand the transportation

         16  mobility options for those individuals while

         17  providing Citywide benefits for the 95 percent of

         18  those New Yorkers that will benefit from this

         19  program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You raised a good

         21  point. What you are really doing in this proposal is

         22  really tolling the free bridges, because all of a

         23  sudden -- When the Mayor made that proposal he did

         24  make it in 2002 and I was one of the people, along

         25  with a lot of Queens and Brooklyn legislators that
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          2  opposed, tolling the East River Bridges, the free

          3  bridges.  What you are really basically doing is a

          4  back-door way of tolling those free bridges because

          5  you are going to charge eight dollars for the free

          6  bridges and eight dollars for the pay bridges.  So

          7  its really another way to toll the free bridges.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Actually

          9  it's not tolling the free bridges.  In 1991 I worked

         10  with Mayor Dinkins on tolling the East River

         11  Bridge's proposal.  So I know what that tolling the

         12  East River Bridge's plan was about.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Did you support

         14  it back then?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It was a

         16  report that was done that highlighted the benefits

         17  of it.  It wasn't a pro or con.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, but did you

         19  support it?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Did I

         21  support it? I thought it was an important idea for

         22  us to explore, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do you support it

         24  now?

         25                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I support
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          2  the Mayor's program, which is not tolling East River

          3  Bridges. As you may know, the FDR Drive and the

          4  Henry Hudson are free.  There is a free ring road

          5  around the system so if you need to go through, as

          6  long as you don't cross into the central business

          7  district, that is free.  For commuters who are

          8  traveling into the central business district that

          9  are paying an MTA, or Port Authority toll, those

         10  tolls are deducted from the overall eight dollar

         11  fee.  So they are paying a marginal cost associated

         12  with a dramatic increase in travel time savings.

         13                 So we believe that this plan has

         14  nothing to do with tolling the East River Bridges.

         15  It is basically about making our transportation

         16  system work more efficiently and more equitably to

         17  serve the needs of all New Yorkers.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, I think we

         19  have a disagreement here.  I don't want to belabor

         20  the Committee time and I know a number of Members,

         21  as well as Chair Liu have other issues to cover.

         22                 We have been joined by other Council

         23  Members.  We have Council Member Vincent Ignizio

         24  from Staten Island, Council Member Gale Brewer from

         25  Manhattan, Council Member Miguel Martinez from
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          2  Manhattan and Council Member Oliver Koppell from the

          3  Bronx.

          4                 I'm going to turn it over to Chair

          5  Liu.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Mr.

          7  Chairman. Just to spend a little bit more time on

          8  the budget here. Let me ask you about the $852

          9  million over the next ten years.  That's Capital

         10  expenditures, is that correct?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Pardon, I

         12  didn't hear the question.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The $852 million,

         14  you stated in your testimony.

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: That's

         16  Capital.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. It sounds like

         18  the City, the Administration would put that plan,

         19  that Capital Plan in place regardless of the

         20  implementation of the congestion pricing or not.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: There are

         22  two elements that are important to understand here.

         23  There is City Capital funding that is going into

         24  many of the Administrations --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The $371 million,
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          2  would be City Capital?

          3                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: That is City

          4  Capital.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's on page two of

          6  the testimony.

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So that's

          9  money that the Bloomberg Administration would embark

         10  on investing regardless of whether we implement the

         11  congestion pricing plan.  Is that correct?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.  So

         14  that's a good thing.  That is a recognition on the

         15  part of the Administration that there are

         16  transportation improvements that are necessary.  And

         17  then with regard to the Mayor's ongoing pledges to

         18  improve mass transit before any implementation of

         19  congestion pricing. Would this be the extent of the

         20  budget increases to improve mass transit or are

         21  there other pieces of the puzzle, perhaps on the

         22  Expense side that are anticipated that would be

         23  necessary to improve mass transit before any

         24  implementation of a congestion pricing plan.

         25                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We do have
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          2  funding in the Expense and Capital Budgets for bus

          3  improvements and we will be working with our

          4  colleagues at the MTA to come up with a

          5  comprehensive program on increasing express bus

          6  service and addressing bus hot-spots throughout the

          7  system, as well as figuring out ways to better knit

          8  our system together.

          9                 In many cases you don't have easy

         10  transfer from walking across the street to even get

         11  to a subway system, so we think that there are some

         12  short term immediate improvements that we can use to

         13  improve the efficiency of our overall network and I

         14  look forward to working with Lee Sander and my

         15  colleagues at the MTA to accomplish that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Some of these

         17  improvements highlighted by the $852 million

         18  ten-year Capital plan, 371 of which would come from

         19  the City Budget, expanded and improved access to our

         20  mass transit facilities.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But again, we are

         23  talking about a commitment by the Mayor to improve

         24  mass transit before any implementation of congestion

         25  pricing and the timeframe that the Mayor has thrown
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          2  out there is 18 months.

          3                 So there has got to be, we are

          4  serious about this, there has got to be something in

          5  the Executive Budget that signifies a real intent

          6  and commitment to actually provide those mass

          7  transit improvements.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So for example.  The

         10  Mayor, and I know Council Member Addabbo is going to

         11  ask this, so I won't ask about the ferry.  But he

         12  will ask about it next.

         13                 But what about the improvements in

         14  the bus lines and the expansion of bus routes.  What

         15  would be the increase in the Expense Budget for more

         16  buses?

         17                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We have in

         18  the overall funding of the program, we have about

         19  $13 million in the Budget for improving the bike

         20  network, improving the bus network and improving the

         21  ITS systems, which are crucial for signal

         22  prioritization for buses to increase their headway

         23  and reduce the travel times for commuters. That

         24  money has been budgeted in this current fiscal year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.  Okay,
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          2  I'm not going to belabor the point because I think

          3  we can talk about it more intensively over the next

          4  few weeks.  But, you know, when we say $13 million

          5  to improve bike lanes and some lanes for buses that

          6  falls short of what I would consider a real

          7  steadfast, hard commitment.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: There is

          9  about $30 million in the Expense and Capital Budgets

         10  in this fiscal year for the PlaNYC.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There is 30

         12                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes, 30.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  And just to

         14  keep things in perspective.  The City currently pay

         15  the MTA about 250 to $300 million to subsidize what

         16  use to be the private bus routes.  And so we are

         17  talking about, if we are really committed to giving

         18  New Yorkers the transit options to get them out of

         19  their cars, we need to be serious about investing

         20  the money in the transit options.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN:  Absolutely,

         22  Council Member.  It's absolutely crucial, and again

         23  is another reason why it is really important to look

         24  at the PlaNYC approach because we simply don't have

         25  the money to make the investment that we need in the
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          2  system and the MTA doesn't have the money to

          3  complete the needs for capital investments they need

          4  to make sure that we run on time. Let alone continue

          5  to operate their extensive subway and bus service.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. But actually,

          7  we do. Because the Mayor has suggested $200 million

          8  increase in City funds, over and above the revenues

          9  expected from the congestion pricing system.  And so

         10  that signifies an additional intent on the part of

         11  the City to invest in mass transit.  That's $200

         12  million, but the problem is it's not in the budget

         13  this year so maybe the answer is, we are not going

         14  to have it in the budget this year.  But it would be

         15  in the budget next year, or maybe it would be in the

         16  budget as a budget modification for this year once

         17  the state legislature and the general public comes

         18  on board with the whole plan.

         19                 My question is really like we need to

         20  tie the Mayor down on his commitments to improve

         21  mass transit and right now I'm looking at $371

         22  million of capital improvements over ten years,

         23  which I know you understand in the grand scheme of

         24  things that's not a serious number in magnitude.

         25  The $13 million in bike lanes and better lanes for
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          2  buses to travel, that is a start, but it's a minimal

          3  start.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well I agree

          5  with you and this Mayor is committed to doing

          6  whatever we can to increasing investment in our

          7  transit system, which is why I think the PlaNYC

          8  Program is the center piece of -- the transportation

          9  component is such a center piece of this. We have

         10  $130 million in FY '09 also dedicated to the PlaNYC

         11  initiative and we look forward to working with you

         12  and the rest of the Members of the Council on how we

         13  can best address the needs of the 22 neighborhoods

         14  that are affected by that program.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What we should do is

         16  make sure that the City and the Mayor is going to

         17  allocate the funds now and not wait for the revenues

         18  to come in from congestion pricing.  The revenues

         19  are available now, as Chairman Weprin stated, we are

         20  in a budget surplus situation today.  And we realize

         21  that in the out years the budget surplus is not

         22  going to stay with us forever.  The fact is that one

         23  of the reasons we are talking about this is in

         24  addition to the environmental concerns, the economic

         25  concerns.  Again, we rely a lot on the partnership
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          2  for NYC arguments we are $13 billion, I think you

          3  stated that earlier, $13 billion a year in economic

          4  activity.  So we should be able to afford this year

          5  or this coming fiscal year beginning in July and

          6  next year get the money immediately out there and

          7  start expanding the bus service, the ferry service

          8  that the Mayor announced a couple of weeks ago, and

          9  expanding access to the commuter rails for City

         10  residents.  This is not capital intensive, it can be

         11  done pretty quickly.  But none of it can be done if

         12  we don't even have something in the budget to fund

         13  these commitments that the Mayor has talked about in

         14  overall terms.

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: You make

         16  excellent points Council Member and the Mayor

         17  intends to move forward with the transit

         18  improvements that he's talked about. This fiscal

         19  year is obviously, it's a short period of time right

         20  here. We are moving forward with the bus rapid

         21  transit quarters that we discussed, we are moving

         22  forward with the ferry solicitations that we

         23  discussed, we are moving forward with an enhanced

         24  express bus service.  We are going to be targeting

         25  improvements in 22 neighborhoods.  And again, we
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          2  look forward to working with you. I do believe that

          3  our partners at the MTA will be very helpful in

          4  helping us identify what are the improvements that

          5  we need to make going forward.

          6                 I don't think that anyone has

          7  suggested that there is a viable way for us to deal

          8  with population growth other than by encouraging

          9  transit use and discouraging auto use.  I think

         10  looking at the different congestion pricing programs

         11  is one way that we can fund these vital

         12  improvements, transit improvements going forward.  I

         13  don't think that alternative revenue sources have

         14  been proposed by anyone that could address that

         15  funding gap on a level that we are talking about

         16  now, by having dedicated revenue sources for that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right, so let me

         18  just ask the question of the application to the

         19  federal government for the congestion pricing trial

         20  period.  That has a potential of bringing what, a

         21  couple of hundred million dollars of money that

         22  actually can be used to increase the bus service and

         23  some ferry service?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Correct.

         25  The USDIT Urban Partnership Agreement has $1.2
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          2  million, excuse me $1.2 billion dedicated for five

          3  cities that are selected under this program.  We

          4  believe that we will be among that short listed

          5  group of cities and we believe that there is

          6  approximately 400 to $500 million that would be

          7  available to us for a variety of applications.  One,

          8  to pay for the cost of installing the congestion

          9  pricing system, for the trans improvements that you

         10  talked about. Ferry and bus improvements are all

         11  eligible under the Urban Partnership Agreement

         12  that's being administered by USDIT.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the application

         14  now is put in I guess just before April 30th.  That

         15  has the potential to bring in close to

         16  half-a-billion dollars immediately for the City to

         17  use.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes, the

         19  applicants will be short-listed probably in

         20  July/August sometime in summer and then the final

         21  awards are likely to be made during the fall.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And what is the

         23  latest estimate on how much installing this kind of

         24  pricing system would cost.

         25                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I don't have
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          2  the specifics.  I think it's in the 200 to 300

          3  million range.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So half of it would

          5  be necessary and then the other half we could use.

          6  If we get the 400 to 500 million, is there any idea

          7  as to how much of that would be used for ferries

          8  versus buses or for other modes?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I believe

         10  that the conditional application is being finalized

         11  right now and I can get back to you on the details.

         12  I don't have the details in terms of the breakdown

         13  of that at this moment.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Now, would

         15  that money be used, because a lot of the federal

         16  funds I understand they actually come down for the

         17  acquisition of buses and the acquisition of ferries

         18  and do not necessarily fund the operating cost.

         19                 So would the extra 100 or $200

         20  million of the federal funds be used for acquiring

         21  the equipment and the vehicles?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN  We'll be

         23  working with the MTA, as we have been working with

         24  them all along and identifying the package of

         25  improvements going forward, including operating and
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          2  capital purchases and subsidies.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  And then

          4  finally, my last question is about the SMART Fund

          5  itself.  The Mayor's proposing this SMART Fund and I

          6  guess kind of placing the revenues from congestion

          7  pricing, if their is congestion pricing Councilman

          8  Weprin.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Hope not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And also we're

         11  expecting for the City to invest $200 million a year

         12  annually and we're hoping the state will come up

         13  with the same amount too.  But the SMART Fund or

         14  Smart Board isn't actually totally necessary.  I

         15  mean if the revenues are coming in from any possible

         16  congestion pricing system, that could come straight

         17  into the City revenue.  It doesn't have to go into a

         18  separate fund.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Except that

         20  you then do not get the benefit associated with

         21  bonding out those revenues, which will significantly

         22  increase the revenues that we have to be able to

         23  make these capital improvements.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, having a

         25  separate SMART Fund and governing board for the
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          2  SMART fund, actually increases our bonding capacity?

          3                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. We have

          5  questions from Council Member Lappin.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you Mr.

          7  Chairman. Welcome.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Good morning.

         10  I wanted to ask a couple of questions about

         11  congestion pricing.  86 Street, while a commercial

         12  corridor, is no where near the central business

         13  district.  So why 86th Street?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: 86 Street

         15  was what we used when we did our modeling exercise

         16  in identifying, taking a look at the congestion in

         17  the City and looked at what different geographic

         18  areas would be most suited for this.  So that was

         19  what we modeled and that's where we are in terms of

         20  proposal as planned.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: But why did

         22  you model 86th Street.  In the past, I'd always

         23  heard 60th-ish.  Why did you look so far north?  I

         24  mean a mile plus outside of the central business

         25  district.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It was my

          3  understanding that they were looking a ways to

          4  address congestion and that was the boundary that

          5  was identified. I don't really know more about that

          6  decision-making process.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  To me, it's

          8  an important boundary, it's an important line to

          9  draw, where we draw the line.  I agree that we have

         10  to find innovative ways to deal with traffic because

         11  of environmental and economic concern, but there's

         12  going to be a crush of cars stopping right outside

         13  of that line and that's going to create

         14  environmental concerns for the people who live at

         15  86th Street and right north. That's a very

         16  residential neighborhood and nowhere now for people

         17  to park.  So, we are going to have a crush of cars

         18  circling around 86th Street, looking for parking

         19  places that don't exist.  So what's the proposal in

         20  terms of dealing with those vehicles?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, one of

         22  the tools in our tool box to address this is looking

         23  at a residential parking program and that's one of

         24  the ways that we are looking at mitigating some of

         25  the effects associated with this, while we continue
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          2  what the best boundaries are for this important

          3  program.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Let's be

          5  clear.  A residential parking permit is a hunting

          6  license.  That's all it is for the people who live

          7  in that neighborhood. And that doesn't deal with the

          8  cars that are coming in who will not have these

          9  placards, who will be circling the neighborhood

         10  looking for spots that don't exist.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: A lot of my

         12  constituents.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, we

         14  believe that a lot of people will because they do

         15  have transit options and a lot of times just decide

         16  that for their own personal convenience they prefer

         17  to travel in a car by themselves rather than take

         18  the train.  Once we get this pricing program put

         19  into place, the incentive to do that kind of

         20  cruising would be removed and people will find it

         21  easier, quicker, and more attractive for them to

         22  commute by transit.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: I mean, I

         24  understand the hope.  But hope is not a strategy.

         25  So I just want to make sure that we're thinking
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          2  through what's going to happen when this is

          3  implemented, if it's implemented and not putting our

          4  heads in the sand in terms of driving hoping people

          5  will park in garages.

          6                 Well the residential garages up there

          7  are full. Full, full, full.  People pay more for

          8  monthly spots than I paid for my first apartment out

          9  of college.  It's kind of amazing.  But, they do and

         10  there are no spots left. So people won't be able to

         11  park in private facilities.  Is the City considering

         12  municipal garages near the boundary?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We're

         14  considering a whole package of improvements to

         15  ensure that we mitigate to the extent possible the

         16  impact associated with the implementation of this

         17  program. And I certainly look forward to working

         18  with you to help better define what those package of

         19  improvements can be.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay.  I have

         21  a lot of questions that haven't been answered and I

         22  envision idling and more congestion around 86th

         23  Street and more pollution in the air because there

         24  aren't places for these cars to go and there is a

         25  percentage of people that has remained steady, as
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          2  far as I understand over the years. Even as the

          3  populations have increased the percentage of people

          4  who choose to drive has remained somewhat steady. So

          5  I know the goal is to try to reduce that percentage

          6  as we move forward and I hope that it works, but if

          7  it doesn't we have to be somewhat realistic about

          8  what the impacts are going to be.

          9                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: You're

         10  absolutely right and that is also the reason why the

         11  Mayor's program is a three-year pilot program.  I

         12  mean it's a pilot program to see whether this works

         13  or not and we will be monitoring throughout the

         14  course of the program what the impacts are, both

         15  from an air quality perspective, quality of life

         16  perspective, et cetera.  So, I absolutely understand

         17  your concerns Council Member, and look forward to

         18  working with you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And what about

         20  the residential permit, because in the past, you

         21  know I raised this over the years with the DOT I've

         22  always been told, look up, you've got hundreds of

         23  thousands of people living here and not nearly

         24  enough spots on the street, so it's not feasible.

         25  Now all of a sudden there is this complete 180
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          2  degrees turn on that position.

          3                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I think

          4  there is a recognition they are going forward.  That

          5  our current strategies don't work.  That we can't

          6  continue to have more people, more cars coming into

          7  the central business district and we can't continue

          8  to underfund our systems.  We absolutely need to

          9  invest in better ways for people to get around, and

         10  that's really the heart of the program.

         11                 So we are looking at innovative ways

         12  to try to address this issue. These are programs

         13  that have been in place an worked in London, in

         14  Singapore, in Stockholm and these are issues that

         15  have often been addressed in conjunction with the

         16  implementation of cities and I certainly look

         17  forward to working with you on reviewing those

         18  programs and identifying ways to address the needs

         19  of your district.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay. Thank

         21  you.  And I wanted to just touch on ferry service

         22  because I know my colleagues are going to talk about

         23  it but I wanted to just throw out there something I

         24  mentioned to your predecessor that I've been working

         25  with Deputy Mayor Doctoroff's office on, is when you
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          2  are looking to expand ferry service on the East

          3  River and into Queens, I hope you will include

          4  Roosevelt Island in your plans.  I know that the RFP

          5  that was let asked for respondents to look at

          6  Roosevelt Island. I have put money into the Capital

          7  Budget to help fund a dock on the island and I think

          8  it would be when you are looking at that corridor, a

          9  place where we could potentially add a

         10  transportation option, so I look forward to working

         11  with you on that.

         12                 Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  And

         14  residential parking would be just one among several

         15  items that with the Mayor's new vision there has

         16  been somewhat of a change of heart.  So, we welcome

         17  that change of heart.  These are issues that the

         18  Council has been advocating from residential parking

         19  to improved gasoline efficiency for taxicabs to

         20  ferry service.

         21                 We have questions from Council Member

         22  Sears.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Mr.

         24  Chair. Welcome Commissioner.  It's good to have you

         25  on-board.  I wish you all the best of everything.
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          2  You are working with a very good crew.  I'll have to

          3  say that because they have been wonderful throughout

          4  the years.

          5                 I'm going to probably put together

          6  just a couple of things.  One is I want to talk

          7  about the trucking study for a moment and since it's

          8  budget, I'll confine it to budget.  That was the

          9  first study that had been done in a long time on the

         10  routing of the trucks.  Actually it came out of the

         11  Transportation Committee this request and it had

         12  been extended and I think it was two or three years.

         13  Finally it was done.

         14                 Congestion parking, if I must use

         15  that for trucks, it's horrendous in the other

         16  boroughs. And I can understand why we are having the

         17  problems that we do in Manhattan.  What is going to

         18  be done about the changing of the truck routes in

         19  other boroughs, and I bring it up in a budget issue

         20  because I would think it would require personnel, it

         21  would require training or a sensitivity to our

         22  police as to what they are going to do.  We have,

         23  and I don't think there is one borough that's free

         24  from this, 16 wheel trucks.  They come down the very

         25  narrow streets, they are on the avenues, they back
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          2  up because they cannot make the turns.

          3                 So in a budget area, what are we

          4  going to do that would require more money that these

          5  trucks, and I understand what the trucking issue is,

          6  and I know that most of our stuff comes over in

          7  trucks.  I understand that, so we don't need to go

          8  into that.  But the fact is that there are trucks

          9  that do not belong in these residential areas, where

         10  we have this mixed over-lay of commercial.

         11                 I understand that the study is not

         12  really dealing with that very much and correct me if

         13  I'm wrong.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, truck

         15  enforcement along the truck routes is a very

         16  important issue and the City did a Citywide as you

         17  know truck study and I am going to ask Deputy

         18  Commissioner Woloch to address that since he was

         19  significantly involved in that program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We have also been

         21  joined by Council Member Dennis Gallagher from

         22  Queens and Council Member Vincent Gentile from

         23  Brooklyn.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Council

         25  Member as you know we finished that long awaited

                                                            62

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEES

          2  study in March and among the recommendations in

          3  every borough were some changes to the truck route

          4  system.  And we are going to be working to

          5  promulgate those changes.

          6                 But really, those were not the core

          7  recommendations of the study, because the

          8  fundamental problem with trucks is if you take them

          9  off of one street, because we are so reliant on

         10  trucks, they are going to go somewhere else.

         11                 Most of the recommendations that came

         12  out of the study really got at taking the existing

         13  truck route system and making it work better.

         14  Because I think we all agree, and we have discussed

         15  this before that if the truckers don't know how the

         16  truck route system works, if the police department

         17  that does the enforcement doesn't have good

         18  information about what the rules are and what the

         19  routes are, if we don't have good signage up, this

         20  system isn't going to work. And that's in the

         21  experience really over the past 20 years.

         22                 So most of the recommendations of the

         23  truck study that we completed get at that issue.

         24  They get at improving the signage and we have

         25  already over the past couple of years made
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          2  improvements to over a thousand signs throughout the

          3  City.  And what's more importantly, it's doing more

          4  to help our colleagues at the police department to

          5  be able to do better enforcement.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Has your agency

          7  worked with the other agencies to see that it is in

          8  their budget as to what they will require in order

          9  to do the enforcement?  Enforcement is one thing,

         10  educating is another thing and it all takes money.

         11  So you need a concerted effort with the other

         12  agencies that are involved. And my question is, is

         13  that something you have done that in`08 since the

         14  study is completed there will be enough money in the

         15  appropriate budgets of the appropriate agencies in

         16  which to do exactly what the recommendations are in

         17  the truck study?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: It's a

         19  good point.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's why I'm

         21  bringing it up here.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Right.

         23  The big cost that we are going to face among the

         24  recommendations is less on the enforcement and

         25  education side and at least for the time being those

                                                            64

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEES

          2  are costs we'll be able to absorb. The big cost will

          3  be on the signage fund and we proposed in the study

          4  a new set of signage throughout the City.

          5                 One of the problems is right now that

          6  we have many different signs out there.  It's

          7  confusing for residents, it's confusing to the

          8  drivers, it's confusing to the police officers.  We

          9  have actually put in a proposal to the Federal

         10  Government for a new signage plan and they have

         11  signed off on us doing a pilot of that signage.

         12  Hopefully after that pilot they will give us the

         13  green light, which means that they will pay for

         14  installing new signage throughout the City to the

         15  tune of about four to $5 million. And that's where

         16  the big cost is going to be.

         17                 On the enforcement side, a big piece

         18  of it is as you said, the education.  And that is

         19  something that we are working with the police

         20  department on and we piloted a program that the

         21  Commissioner referenced in her testimony to give

         22  placards with customized truck route information to

         23  police officers in four precincts.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Is all this

         25  reflected in budgetary request?  We aren't still
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          2  doing our budget for July 1, `07, it's `08.  So am I

          3  being hard on this? Because there is -- it's just

          4  rancid throughout and one of the things why people

          5  get very frustrated with the government is we have a

          6  lot of verbiage and we really don't do much to make

          7  it happen.  The bottom line is that if the dollars

          8  that are going to make happen exactly what you are

          9  saying.  I don't have an objection to what you are

         10  saying. I just don't know if the money is there to

         11  do it.  That's why I'm asking.  And that would mean

         12  that not only do you need the money in your budget,

         13  so does the police department.  So does whatever

         14  other agency that's involved with making it happen.

         15                 Are you getting dollars from the

         16  Federal Government to do that pilot program?   If

         17  so, what are the boundaries for that?  And if you

         18  are, how long does it take for the Federal

         19  Government to release dollars so that you can do

         20  that.  So that's what I'm asking on this one issue.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Sure.

         22  We've only recently gotten the sign-off from the

         23  Federal Government and we are working on defining

         24  what part of the City will do the pilot --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Where do you
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          2  think you would go with that pilot program?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Ideally

          4  it would be a discrete part of the City where it

          5  would be easy to monitor the impact of the signage

          6  and to monitor our trucks coming in and trucks

          7  coming out.  Hunts Point might be a possibility.

          8  But that is something we will be thinking through

          9  over the next few weeks and we will let you know.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It's a very

         11  important issue and it's something that we are going

         12  to put some increased attention on.  We are going to

         13  create a frameability to try focus on targeting

         14  short term improvements that we can do on that

         15  working with our partners.  I use to work at USDOT

         16  and have some strong connections at FHWA to identify

         17  any additional funds that we can use to help us

         18  address this issue.

         19                 We also, as you probably know,

         20  distributed about 35 thousand new truck routes,

         21  truck route maps.  It been unprecedented demand and

         22  we're going to be looking to do more of that.

         23  That's again on the education front.  On the

         24  enforcement front with NYPD and then of course doing

         25  what we can do to ensure that we can get enforcement
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          2  along those routes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are you going

          4  to distribute any of those bus routes to the 59

          5  community boards in the City of New York?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:

          7  Absolutely. We'll be sending that out shortly.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  And when

          9  it comes to the, it may seem like a very foolish

         10  question, but as it relates to congestion parking,

         11  and I know that colleague Jessica Lappin brought up

         12  hunting licenses if you get residential permits, is

         13  there any thought in capital planning for municipal

         14  garages to be placed in rather specific areas and

         15  what that would mean to do that. Because there are

         16  communities that do not have municipal garages. As a

         17  matter of fact, I have a district that has one, and

         18  as you know it is near my office, which is the

         19  largest and the most densely populated district in

         20  the entire City.  So there are others like that but

         21  not quite with the intensity of what we have.

         22                 I don't see how we could even think

         23  of doing congestion parking without considering

         24  something and have the elected officials help you

         25  locate, in addition to meeting with the MTA and what
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          2  they would have in their plans for increasing subway

          3  lines, express bus routes and bus routes.

          4                 You know what it reminds me of, the

          5  studies that were done at Queens Boulevard and I say

          6  this respectfully.  The studies that were done on

          7  Queens Boulevard may really put the cart before the

          8  horse.  And it's wonderful to come up with

          9  congestion parking and we all know, believe me, we

         10  all know the health issues of the City, we all know

         11  what Asthma is.  There isn't a district without it.

         12  We know what the pollutants are.  The fact is that

         13  in order to deal with that, even if you wanted it on

         14  a health issue, there has to be some things that

         15  would be doable at the beginning. And I don't know

         16  what's doable at the beginning except that it's a

         17  punitive issue, more than it is anything else.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We are going

         19  to be working to, as I mentioned earlier, working to

         20  target improvements to those areas that are most

         21  affected by the congestion pricing program and make

         22  sure that we increase mobility options for

         23  individuals that are there and address a very

         24  specific need as Council Member Lappin pointed out,

         25  in terms of on the parking issue.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And just one

          3  other question.  Is reducing parking placards?  How

          4  does that help anything?  I don't know, so I ask

          5  that question very innocently.  How does it help?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Parking

          7  placards are used by government agencies for a

          8  variety of purposes. But one of the things that it

          9  does is it when you have a parking placard in your

         10  car it allows that car to park for as long as that

         11  person is there and it takes up --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Fifty- one

         13  members have a card like that.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: -- Right, it

         15  takes up valuable street space that's crucial in

         16  terms of addressing --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Commissioner we

         18  are not Peter Pans and we don't fly through the air.

         19    So, you know, I don't quite understand that

         20  statement.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          3  Member Sears.  Questions from Council Member

          4  Addabbo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you Mr.

          6  Chair. Commissioner first and foremost, let me take

          7  this opportunity to wish you well and much success

          8  in your new position.  I look forward to work with

          9  you and again let me also express gratitude to your

         10  department in all that you do throughout the City

         11  and your team here today.  Thank you very much for

         12  being here.

         13                 You mentioned on page five and the

         14  Mayor graciously came to my district and announced

         15  it's proposal for Rockaway Ferry.  And again, we

         16  have much optimism regarding that proposal.

         17                 I was wondering if for the record we

         18  can just flush out some details as they are to date.

         19    I know it's kind of early and maybe a little bit

         20  premature, but if we could just flush out some

         21  details as you may know as of now what they are

         22  regarding that ferry proposal.

         23                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well as you

         24  know the deadline for the clarification is May 29th.

         25  We are expecting responses by June 21st.  So at that
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          2  time we will be in a better position to evaluate the

          3  service plan at that point-in-time.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Do you have

          5  any idea about what kind of financial commitment

          6  there will be in the budget for this proposal?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: No, the

          8  exact timeframe and it's going to depend on the

          9  number and the type of submissions that we receive

         10  and that will tie into the funding and the nature of

         11  the assistance that's asked for.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I know in the

         13  past I've asked the department about the path of the

         14  ferry. Actually one proposal, and I have no problem

         15  with that but obviously it's going from Rockaway to

         16  Brooklyn to downtown Manhattan.  Is that still an

         17  idea of being brought about in your department as

         18  far as the path, that includes a Brooklyn stop?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Yes.

         20  That's a possibility and I think in fact it's

         21  referenced as an option in the RFEI.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: My colleague

         23  to my left here saying Bay Ridge, Bay Ridge, Bay

         24  Ridge.  So much for subliminal advertising.  But

         25  again, we look forward to working with you on that
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          2  because obviously the residents of Bay Ridge could

          3  enjoy the benefits of a ferry as well. Yes, we do

          4  look forward to working with you on that.  So again

          5  thank you very much for your efforts on this issue

          6  and again look forward to continuing dialogue.

          7                 Thank you.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Council

          9  Member Addabbo is very gentle.  Let me just

         10  reemphasize a point that in order for the ferry

         11  service to be truly viable the City has to treat it

         12  as a mass transit option and therefore there has to

         13  be some subsidy on the fare, otherwise it just will

         14  not work.  So hopefully that's going to be part of

         15  the commitment.

         16                 I won't ask you about how much is in

         17  the budget for that subsidy, but that question will

         18  come up in the coming months.  Thank you.  We have

         19  questions from Council Member Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Good morning.

         21  I have a question first about capital. The West 79th

         22  Street rotunda, is that included or could you let us

         23  know in either the 300 or $800 million capital.

         24  That is a rotunda of Council Member Weprin's

         25  constituents, will fall onto the ground off the

                                                            73

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEES

          2  highway if it is not fixed.  We would know about it

          3  on the West side so we wouldn't use it.  But people

          4  need to know that that's going to fall down.  The

          5  rotunda at West 79th Street.  The Parks Department

          6  would love to have your cooperation in fixing the

          7  rotunda.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It's in the

          9  plan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's in the

         11  plan. The full amount.  Mr. Benefe would love to

         12  know that.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: It's not

         14  in the PlaNYC number.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No. It's in

         16  the regular City for what year? Do you know sir?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: I'm going

         18  to have to check.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         20  Sooner, rather than later because Michael doesn't

         21  want bricks in the drinks.  Trucks, I know that

         22  Council Member Sears talked about that.  My question

         23  is this.  If you just look at like one street West

         24  End Avenue, the issue is not maps so that the

         25  drivers know what is a route.  I believe they have
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          2  maps.  They had maps I think during Dinkins, they

          3  had maps.  With all due respect to the drivers, they

          4  don't pay attention to the maps if they can get away

          5  with it.  And I can understand that because time is

          6  money.

          7                 So when I call to the 20 and the 24

          8  precinct I say, why can't we use a carrot and stick

          9  approach.  There are  signs.  The signs are so huge

         10  you can't lift them. But this personnel at the local

         11  precinct is not there to do the ticketing.  So I

         12  just want to echo Council Member Sears, the real

         13  issue is just very simple.  The drivers have the

         14  maps, maybe they need to be updated or maybe they

         15  could be a JIS but the issue is personnel in the

         16  police department to say sorry buddy, you are going

         17  to get a ticket if you go down here.  That's really

         18  the only way to stop the truck drivers.  They are

         19  from other states often. A ticket is money perhaps,

         20  but the issue is the residents and we need to stop

         21  them and only police are going to do that.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: I think

         23  that's right and I think that was one of the more

         24  important recommendations to come out of the truck

         25  study.  Part of what gets confusing I think for
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          2  everybody involved, including the police officers,

          3  is that the regulations are complicated.  West End

          4  Avenue for instance has a no commercial vehicle

          5  regulation, which is different than other streets.

          6  So part of what we are doing through these

          7  customized placards for all those police officers is

          8  to distinguish something like that, every district.

          9                 The other point that is worth

         10  pointing out is that the police department has been

         11  working very closely with us on this issue.  They

         12  have been focusing on truck route violations, it's

         13  part of traffic stat.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I mean I would

         15  just say echoing Council Member Sears is when

         16  Captain Spadero (phonetic) at the 2-0 and Captain

         17  O'Reilly at the 2-4 have more personnel to work on

         18  it, then residents will believe that it's all

         19  happening.  And when you have that, we'll have a big

         20  announcement.

         21                 Bike storage, I know you mentioned

         22  it.  I know you ride a bike to work and this morning

         23  at the municipal building two friends of mine, when

         24  I was coming there from our breakfast complained

         25  that you know, it's hard to store.  So I am just
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          2  wondering, City buildings, I know you have to work

          3  with Martha Hirst.  City buildings, not to mention

          4  private buildings, not to mention garages. What kind

          5  of ideas do you have in terms of bike storage.

          6  Obviously I'm a big supporter.  We'd love to have

          7  bikes move into buildings, et cetera.  But I think

          8  we should at least start with our own and right now

          9  at 125 Worth, you cannot bring your bike in the

         10  building, or store it anywhere.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well I look

         12  forward to working with you on making sure that we

         13  do a better job in accommodating bikers who are

         14  looking for better ways to get to work and having

         15  facilities available to them to park and store their

         16  bikes when they get there.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  I know

         18  that Council Member Liu was very kind last year, we

         19  had a hearing on no cars in Central Park and

         20  Prospect Park, in the summer.  I support that.  It's

         21  very controversial for people who have cars and want

         22  to zoom down the avenue and the North- South.  It

         23  would not affect the transverse, so I just mention

         24  that as something that we are going to introduce.

         25  We have another bill.  The Mayor very kindly last

                                                            77

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEES

          2  year cut the number of hours that cars are in the

          3  park, but it is something that we would like to have

          4  on going discussions about and hopefully get to that

          5  point.

          6                 Buses, I know you mentioned

          7  technology in terms of the traffic signals.  This is

          8  an MTA and your issue but we have been waiting for a

          9  very long time to have some kind of a GPS system on

         10  the bus shelters so that we know when the buses are

         11  arriving. I don't know how much is you and how much

         12  is MTA, but that's an issue that, I mean every other

         13  city in the world has that.  And I'm just wondering

         14  if that is part of any discussion in terms of

         15  funding.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It's

         17  actually something that we are looking forward to

         18  working with the MTA on.  There have been issues on

         19  the ITS front on advanced passenger information

         20  systems associated with the density of parts of New

         21  York City that make it difficult for the

         22  transponders to pick up the signal.  So that's

         23  something that I know that the MTA is working on --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: For ten years.

         25                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: -- And
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          2  that's something that I'm hoping we can move

          3  expeditiously on --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: This is ten

          5  years.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SADIK- KAHN: -- And I'm

          7  also hoping that the Council Members can help us

          8  work with the legislative bodies in Albany to help

          9  get additional red light cameras to help on

         10  enforcement and in particular to get the cameras

         11  that we need to do enforcement along targeted bus

         12  routes, which is going to be a key component of that

         13  proposal.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I believe

         15  strongly in the red light camera, I believe strongly

         16  in moving the lanes so that traffics out of the

         17  lanes, so the buses can move and we've had local

         18  meetings on this and we've done reports on the West

         19  96th Street pokey bus.  But in addition for the

         20  passenger, I think it would be good to know when the

         21  bus is arriving.  With all due respect, Lois is

         22  probably sitting back there, it would be great to

         23  make it happen.  So far bus stops look great, new

         24  ones very late, no idea when the bus is coming.

         25                 And then finally, on the congestion I
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          2  want to echo Council Member Lappin in terms of -- I

          3  actually am one of the Council Members who will say

          4  that I support congestion pricing.  I may be the

          5  only one to say that. I think it's not going to

          6  happen at 86th Street.  I think it will move down.

          7  I think it's a funding issue.  People said we'll get

          8  more money from 86th street than we would from 60th

          9  Street or some other further down area.  I say it

         10  like it is.  However, that doesn't make any sense

         11  either on the East or the West.  So I know that the

         12  location is going to change and I just want to say

         13  that it should.

         14                 The residential parking is something

         15  that should be discussed. I don't quite understand

         16  if there are not enough spaces and you have a

         17  hunting license, how that's going to actually help

         18  that community that is going to have a major parking

         19  problem.

         20                 So I just want to conclude by stating

         21  that on the West Side we love Margaret Forgeone

         22  (phonetic) and we know that we have a transportation

         23  study that is ongoing and the hope that congestion

         24  and other major transportation issues will be part

         25  of that when we meet in September. But I think in
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          2  terms of this congestion pricing to echo Council

          3  Member Liu, not only does he see buses that are

          4  comfortable, that people can feel good about getting

          5  into come from Queens, if that's the goal, but on

          6  the West Side in Manhattan, we need to know that the

          7  buses are moving and that they have subways not like

          8  the number one that are so packed that getting out

          9  in the morning is a challenge.  You can have all the

         10  transportation in the world, but if it isn't

         11  comfortable and clean and moving at a rate that you

         12  either know when it's coming or that it's moving

         13  quickly, people aren't going to take it.  And so I

         14  think Council Member Weprin has the absolute point.

         15  Probably many people who take the car, maybe they

         16  have a slight disability, maybe they don't have a

         17  comfortable place to get on the subway.  You could

         18  be one block from it, but you are not going to take

         19  it because it's not comfortable, it's not clean, you

         20  don't feel like you want to. All of those aspects I

         21  think have to be part of a system that's older, but

         22  we have to make it clean and new. Maybe we're not,

         23  you know, have the most up-to-date system because we

         24  are an older City, but we have to do it in a way

         25  that makes people feel good about getting on the
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          2  subway.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          5  Member Brewer.  We have been joined by Council

          6  Member David Yassky from Brooklyn and Council Member

          7  Eric Gioia from Queens. We have a few more questions

          8  from Council Members.  I just want to note the

          9  schedule for the DOT portion of this Hearing is

         10  supposed to end at 11:30.  Then comes the MTA. We

         11  know our MTA officials are here so I want to thank

         12  you for your patience.  At 12:30 we do have

         13  Education beginning.  And I know our MTA officials

         14  always want as much time as possible on the witness

         15  stand here so I would ask our colleagues to be brief

         16  with their questions.

         17                 Council Member Garodnick. Thank you

         18  Council Member Garodnick.  Council Member Koppell.

         19  Council Member Gentile.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you Mr.

         21  Chairman.  Commissioner Sadik-Khan congratulations.

         22  We haven't met yet, but certainly I look forward to

         23  working with you and your staff.  And I might say

         24  that your Deputy Commissioner Dave Woloch, was

         25  extremely helpful over the weekend in resolving an
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          2  issue of putting up a sign in time for a street

          3  naming and I thank him for that and the cooperation

          4  of DOT in getting that resolved in time for the

          5  ceremony.

          6                 I missed your opening remarks but in

          7  reading your remarks I'm even more pleased that

          8  you're leading our department these days because I

          9  see that one of things you mentioned is that you

         10  will be performing a Citywide comprehensive

         11  pedestrian fatality injury analysis.

         12                 I just mention to you that I have a

         13  bill that I have introduced that would mandate NYPD

         14  sharing those accident reports with DOT and I hope

         15  to work with you on that issue as we go forward with

         16  the introduction.

         17                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Terrific, I

         18  look forward to working with you and would add that

         19  actually I was in Bay Ridge yesterday, making sure

         20  that the street paving operation was going according

         21  to plan.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Especially

         23  since we had the oldest continuing Memorial Day

         24  parade in the Country, this Monday, in Bay Ridge.

         25                 Speaking of Bay Ridge, I do want to
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          2  emphasize and underscore the fact of the lack of

          3  ferry service in Bay Ridge.  Back in the 1990's we

          4  had a very successful ferry service from the 69th

          5  Street Pier in Bay Ridge.  It was highly successful,

          6  it kept young families and working people in the

          7  community an easy commute to Manhattan.  Then the

          8  pier was shut down because it was collapsing into

          9  the water and when it was rebuilt in late 1990's,

         10  the third slip was never replaced on the pier  Now

         11  that predates you certainly and predates me.  But

         12  there has been no ferry slip in the 69th Street Pier

         13  since the mid 1990's.

         14                 Three years ago, Councilman Yassky

         15  and I in an attempt to change that situation put

         16  $50,000 into the capital budget so that a ferry slip

         17  could be built at the 69th Street Pier in Bay Ridge

         18  to provide service to Pier 11 in Manhattan.  To

         19  date, because of some philosophy that I still can't

         20  understand, it looks like you might be changing that

         21  philosophy, that money has never been spent and the

         22  ferry slip still does not exist, at 69th Street in

         23  Bay Ridge.  We still do not have that ferry service.

         24                 The Mayor is asking us to take cars

         25  off the street and we've had this plan for three
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          2  years now to take cars off the street by creating

          3  ferry service from 69th Street in Bay Ridge.  So

          4  there is no discussion of congestion pricing until

          5  we resolve this issue of ferry service from Bay

          6  Ridge.  Can I get your help on that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I look

          8  forward to working with you on whatever we can do to

          9  make transportation improvements and enhancements to

         10  your neighborhood.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Are you aware

         12  of the fact that there was this money in the budget?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I was

         14  unaware of the 69th Street Pier funding.  No. I look

         15  forward to working with you to identify ways that we

         16  can move forward on ferry programs throughout the

         17  City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well

         19  certainly that is a definite and immediate way that

         20  we can get improved transportation from Bay Ridge

         21  and the TA's coming next and I have some issues with

         22  bus service and express buses, but the ferry service

         23  is the number one transportation issue that we have

         24  in our neighborhood.  I'm glad I'm sitting next to

         25  my colleague from the Rockaways, because we're sort
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          2  of a one two punch here to have that service

          3  Rockaway, Bay Ridge to Lower Manhattan.

          4                 Oh yeah. Staten Island.  Council

          5  Member Ignizio, that's right.  We could start out

          6  there, we can start at Staten Island, go to Rockaway

          7  and then hit Bay Ridge.  Anyone else?  No.

          8                 Thank you Commissioner.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         10  Member Gentile.  Council Member Yassky.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Very briefly

         12  then. First of all congratulations.  I just want to

         13  echo what Councilmen Gentile said about the Sunset

         14  Park, 69th Street Service.  That is, you look around

         15  and think about how can we expand our ferry network

         16  as you say in your statement. That's the place you

         17  could do it immediately and I think with a huge

         18  payoff.  I think the Rockaways is also a terrific

         19  idea, but you should not forget about that.

         20                 And as Council Member Gentile says,

         21  that actually can work together by having a single

         22  line.  And there is money still in the budget from a

         23  couple of years back that you could use to implement

         24  that right away.  So I hope you'll consider that.

         25                 On residential permit parking your
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          2  statement speaks of exploring that and I know in

          3  response, Council Member Lappin you talked a little

          4  bit about it.  What can you say about what your

          5  timetable is on residential permit parking.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well we have

          7  to target our transportation solutions to meet local

          8  needs. And we have to really assess what it is

          9  that's needed in these different neighborhoods and

         10  make sure that what it is that we are putting

         11  forward makes common sense.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Agreed, on all

         13  those.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: So what

         15  we're doing is starting the process.  We've done

         16  DOT's studies since 1992 on residential parking

         17  permits and so we're reviewing all of that work and

         18  study data that's there to date and then moving

         19  forward to identify which are the best areas for us

         20  to move forward on residential parking.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  Well

         22  look, I know you've had a lot to get up to speed up

         23  on immediately and with your extensive background so

         24  maybe what I'll ask you is if I can come and talk to

         25  you at length about this issue.  I'm sure you know
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          2  that the downtown Brooklyn area the Administration

          3  made a commitment to take a look at parking

          4  conditions and if there was a significant amount of

          5  commuter parking  to go ahead and implement a pilot

          6  program for residential permit parking.  That was

          7  back in 2003 and of course the study found there is

          8  a very large percentage of commuter parking in that

          9  neighborhood.

         10                 So I am eager to move forward with

         11  that.  I will come talk to you at length about it.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Great.  I

         13  look forward to it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         16  Member Yassky.  We want to thank the Commissioner

         17  and her team at the DOT for joining us this morning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         19  Commissioner. The honeymoon may be over regarding

         20  congestion pricing but not regarding any other

         21  issue.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I have asked our

         24  officials from the Metropolitan Transportation

         25  Authority to join us at the front of the Chambers.
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          2                 We have been joined by Council Member

          3  Darlene Mealy of Brooklyn and Council Member Diana

          4  Reyna from Brooklyn and Queens.

          5                 Thank you.  We just want to move

          6  along with the Hearing.  This is a Joint Hearing of

          7  the City Council Committees on Finance and

          8  Transportation.  We would now like to welcome our

          9  officials from the Metropolitan Transportation

         10  Authority and ask them to identify themselves for

         11  the record and proceed with their presentation.

         12                 MR. LANIGAN: Good morning Chairman

         13  Liu and Members of the Committee.  My name is Gary

         14  Lanigan and I'm the Director of Budgets and

         15  Financial Management at the Metropolitan

         16  Transportation Authority. I am joined today by

         17  Michael Chubak, on my right, Director of the Office

         18  of Management and Budget at New York City Transit

         19  and Greg Kulberg at my left, the MTA Director of

         20  Capital Programs. I appreciate this opportunity to

         21  discuss the status of the MTA's budget with you.

         22                 I will make my remarks brief since

         23  the MTA's financial situation is relatively

         24  unchanged since I appeared before you in March of

         25  this year.  Under the MTA's budgetary practices our
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          2  financial plan is updated in February and a again in

          3  July for the fiscal year that begins in January.  In

          4  February the MTA released its updated financial plan

          5  for the years 2007- 2010 and included a final budget

          6  for 2007 and a financial plan for the years 2008-

          7  1010.

          8                 As I discussed back in March, the

          9  MTA's financial picture in 2007 is in relatively

         10  good shape however, the MTA faces significant out-

         11  year operating budget deficits that do need to be

         12  addressed.

         13                 Based on our last financial plan, MTA

         14  projected a cash surplus of $941 million in 2006.

         15  The actual closing cash balance was $4 million lower

         16  than the final estimate.  Results for the early

         17  months of 2007 indicate that like the City, MTA

         18  continues to benefit from real estate transaction

         19  revenues, notably the commercial real estate

         20  property transfers.

         21                 However, historically these revenues

         22  are volatile and continue to be difficult to

         23  predict.  Our financial plan update in July will

         24  reflect a new forecast for these particular

         25  revenues.
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          2                 After accounting for the planned 2006

          3  surplus and other gap closing and policy actions,

          4  the MTA projected a final net cash surplus for 2007

          5  of $270 million.  In 2008, 2009, and 2010 the MTA

          6  projected cash deficits of $799 million, $1,455

          7  million and $1,782 million, respectively.

          8                 In the testimony that I provided to

          9  this committee on March 9th, I explained at some

         10  length that our projected deficits result from

         11  revenues that are projected to flatten while

         12  expenses continue to grow.  You may recall that I

         13  explained how some 40 percent of the MTA's $10

         14  billion operating budget is consumed by costs over

         15  which management has limited, if any ability to

         16  control and that these costs are expected to grow by

         17  96 percent between 2004 and 2010.  Over that

         18  six-year period we projected that uncontrollable

         19  costs will increase as follows; Debt Service 122

         20  percent; Health and Welfare 71 percent; Pensions 72

         21  percent; Energy 80 percent; Insurance 180 percent

         22  and Para Transit Cost 164 percent.  The remaining 60

         23  percent of the MTA's operating budget is comprised

         24  of expenses that we can and do control.  These

         25  expenses are expected to grow by approximately 25
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          2  percent over that same six year period, 2004 to

          3  2010.  This increase largely reflects growth in CPI,

          4  which alone would account for a 16.4 percent

          5  increase. Growth beyond CPI is driven by increased

          6  and improved maintenance, improved service levels

          7  and increased security cost to reflect the reality

          8  of the world we live in today.

          9                 The MTA believes that significant

         10  changes in controllable expenses can be achieved by

         11  taking a hard look at the way we do business.  Our

         12  Executive Director/CEO, Lee Sanders, has already

         13  started a review of these issues.  He has directed

         14  each of the agency Presidents to submit productivity

         15  programs for review and possible inclusion in our

         16  upcoming budget.  He has launched a blue ribbon

         17  panel for construction industry leaders to partner

         18  with MTA's chief engineers and capital program staff

         19  to make sure we're using the best practices

         20  available to reduce our capital construction costs.

         21  He is evaluating opportunities for implementing

         22  shared services across the seven agencies. This

         23  model seeks to achieve savings by creating a

         24  business service center to handle the day to day

         25  human resources, payroll and financial transactions
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          2  currently performed seven times over by each of our

          3  agencies.  He is taking a reasoned, thoughtful look

          4  at the potential value, both financial and

          5  operational, of merging the three bus systems and is

          6  initiating an organizational assessment across the

          7  family of agencies with the primary goal of

          8  identifying opportunities and weaknesses.

          9                 Finally, he is working closely with

         10  our state elected officials and our other funding

         11  partners throughout the region to identify both

         12  short and long- term funding solutions.

         13                 Where does this leave us?  As I

         14  mentioned earlier the MTA will release its 2008

         15  preliminary budget in July.  As part of that

         16  presentation the Executive Director will present his

         17  proposal for closing the projected $800 million

         18  budget gap in 2008 and update the financial plan

         19  projections for 2009 through 2011.  This will allow

         20  almost five months for public discussion before the

         21  MTA Board is required to adopt a budget in December.

         22                 One of the reasons the MTA is able to

         23  effectively serve our customers is that we are

         24  constantly reinvesting in the system through our

         25  successive five-year Capital Programs.  These
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          2  programs, approved by the Legislature and Governor,

          3  will by the year 2009 have provided over $75 billion

          4  for the renewal and enhancement of the MTA's

          5  infrastructure since the Capital Program began in

          6  1982.  These investments have allowed the MTA to

          7  undergo a transformation from the days of service

          8  delays disorder and crime to our current safe,

          9  efficient, reliable transportation network.

         10                 The 2nd Avenue Subway is an MTA

         11  expansion project that is both long overdue and

         12  vital to the City's 21st century transportation

         13  network.  On it's first day of operation, it is

         14  estimated that the first segment of the new 2nd

         15  Avenue Subway traveling from 96th Street to 63rd

         16  Street, will serve over 200,000 people while

         17  offering the additional benefit of easing the

         18  overcrowding on the Lexington Line.

         19                 The first tunneling project for this

         20  contract has been awarded and the project is also on

         21  track to receive its full funding grant agreement by

         22  the end of this year.  The cost of the first phase

         23  of the 2nd Avenue Subway is estimated at $4.1

         24  billion.  We are also progressing the $6.4 billion

         25  East Side Access project which will allow Long
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          2  Island Railroad trains to access Grand Central

          3  Terminal.

          4                 Two large tunneling contracts in

          5  Manhattan and Queens are underway and work on the

          6  new station at Grand Central Terminal is expected to

          7  be awarded mid- year. Also this year, the first

          8  tunneling segment for the Number 7 extension to the

          9  Westside of Manhattan is expected to be underway.

         10                 In addition, the MTA is continuing to

         11  contribute to the renewal of Lower Manhattan by

         12  advancing the South Ferry Terminal and Fulton Street

         13  Transit Center projects.  Both are in construction

         14  and targeted for completion in 2008 and 2009

         15  respectively.

         16                 I thank you for this opportunity to

         17  address you and will be happy to answer any

         18  questions you may have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Mr.

         20  Lanigan.  We heard extensive testimony and dialogue

         21  with our new Transportation Commissioner, Janette

         22  Sadik- Khan, who just testified before you about the

         23  Mayor's congestion pricing plan and she added that

         24  there was going to be all sorts infrastructure

         25  transportation improvements to make the plan work.
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          2                 Do you know of any subway

          3  improvements that are contemplated to service say

          4  Eastern Queens, which is a large percentage of the

          5  commuters from New York City into Manhattan?

          6                 MR. LANIGAN:  Could you please repeat

          7  the question?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is there any plans

          9  to expand the subway say from 179th Street to the

         10  Nassau boarder or any other infrastructure that

         11  would lead to a subway East of 179th Street?

         12                 MR. LANIGAN: We have no project plans

         13  of that sort on the books at this time.  However,

         14  our next capital program, which would begin in the

         15  year 2010 is currently being developed and it's

         16  possible that something along those lines might be

         17  proposed for that period.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Are there any

         19  specific capital improvement that you can refer to

         20  that would be directly related to Mayor Bloomberg's

         21  congestion pricing plan.

         22                 MR. LANIGAN: Not at this time.  The

         23  capital program was put together beforehand and we

         24  are only starting to look at the proposals.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON  WEPRIN: Regarding the

          3  2nd Avenue subway that you just testified to, can

          4  you give us a status of the federal funding for this

          5  project and how that's proceeding?

          6                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes.  The 2nd Avenue

          7  subway is this last December was awarded what we

          8  call an early systems work agreement, which permits

          9  the project to go ahead with its next big tunneling

         10  segment, which has been awarded and will be underway

         11  this year.  We are now in the process of preparing

         12  what we call the full- funding grant agreement.

         13  Documents to be submitted to the FTA, which will

         14  then be used to secure an earmark of $1.3 billion

         15  for this project, which we hope to receive before

         16  the end of the year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If you had to

         18  guess, when that opening day would be, the 2nd

         19  Avenue subway you referred to a couple hundred

         20  thousand immediate passengers already to go from

         21  96th Street to 63rd.  When do you think we can

         22  expect the maiden voyage of the 2nd Avenue subway?

         23                 MR. LANIGAN: I believe the scheduled

         24  opening date is 2013.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: 2013.  Any
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          2  particular day?

          3                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm sorry, I believe

          4  it's 2014. Either way, it's in that neighborhood.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  No months

          6  or day yet picked out.  May 2nd?  Okay.  But you are

          7  pretty confident it's actually going to happen?

          8                 MR. LANIGAN: We are.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is that a yes?

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes, definitely.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  So this

         12  ground breaking was different than all other ground-

         13  breakings.

         14                 MR. LANIGAN: We certainly believe so.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And why was that?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: Well, you've got a

         17  contract that we just awarded that is going to be

         18  underway this year that's going to do a huge segment

         19  of tunneling, going from 96th down to 63rd.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And prior so-

         21  called ground- breakings or agreements, what was the

         22  furthest stage that they actually reached as far as

         23   -- they never had any contracts?

         24                 MR. LANIGAN: Well, there were some

         25  segments done, I wasn't around at that point in
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          2  time.  But unlike the current project, which has its

          3  funding largely in place, the previous projects

          4  didn't.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Could you just

          6  briefly go through the funding package for the 2nd

          7  Avenue subway. I know there is federal money, there

          8  is state money, there is your capital plan.  If you

          9  could just give us a summary of the package, the

         10  total and where the sources are coming from.

         11                 MR. LANIGAN: Okay.  The project is a

         12  little under $4.1 billion, $4.050 billion.  Through

         13  this program will fund all of about a billion of it

         14  and the balance will be funded in the ensuing

         15  capital program 2010 to 2014, which is a similar

         16  case for Eastside access.  Both of these projects

         17  span multiple capital programs because of their very

         18  large size.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  And can

         20  you give us an update on the Number 7 capital

         21  project?

         22                 MR. LANIGAN: We expect to award the

         23  tunneling contract for that project later this year

         24  as well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And when would
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          2  the maiden voyage of the new Number 7 be?

          3                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm not sure when it's

          4  expected to be started at this point.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Prior to 2014

          6  though?

          7                 MR. LANIGAN: Oh yes, definitely.  In

          8  that neighborhood as well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  And is

         10  there federal money in that plan?

         11                 MR. LANIGAN: No. No federal money in

         12  that plan.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So that is City

         14  money?

         15                 MR. LANIGAN: Wholly City funded,

         16  that's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: There is no state

         18  funding?

         19                 MR. LANIGAN: That is correct, no

         20  state funding.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, I'm going

         22  to turn it over to Chair Liu.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Chair

         24  Weprin.  We always thank and appreciate the MTA

         25  officials for joining us.  Staying on the 2nd Avenue
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          2  subway because it is so monumental a project. The

          3  funding is largely in place but there is still about

          4  $800 million that's missing?

          5                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes, there is the

          6  balance of the project as is the case.  Eastside

          7  Access will be funded in the next capital program,

          8  the 2010 to 1014 program.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

         10  Presumably it won't be needed until 2010?

         11                 MR. LANIGAN: You mean the funding?

         12  Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that is about 20

         14  percent of the current funding available for this

         15  segment of the 2nd Avenue line?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: The balance of the

         17  funding? Yes, about that, correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: About 20 percent.  I

         19  mean that's just to put on the record.  It's not a

         20  negligible amount.  So hopefully we will get that in

         21  place.

         22                 Now, the real question is recently, I

         23  think last week, the federal government actually

         24  came in and said that the budget for that segment on

         25  the 2nd Avenue line has to be increased.
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So what happened

          4  there?  It was just less than a month after we broke

          5  ground and then the Feds come in and say their

          6  budget has been under estimated?  Or, that there

          7  have already been cost over runs?

          8                 MR. LANIGAN: The discussions with the

          9  FTA on the final funding package for the 2nd Avenue

         10  has been underway for an extensive period of time.

         11  We had this in the plan that approximately $3.3

         12  billion and as the projects developed --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: 3.3 out of a total

         14  expected $4.1 billion cost?

         15                 MR. LANIGAN: That's what the earlier

         16  budget for this project was.  As we have gone

         17  through refining the estimates for the project, a

         18  number of things have happened.

         19                 On our own account we identified the

         20  need for additional real estate funds, largely

         21  reflecting some of our experience with real estate

         22  transactions on other large projects.  That was done

         23  on our own account.

         24                 The FTA in terms of doing their risk

         25  assessment has required as a condition of getting
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          2  the full funding grant agreement so in a sense when

          3  they say you got to do it, you got to do it, has

          4  asked us to raise what are essentially contingency

          5  levels by another $160 million.  So the sum of those

          6  two brings you to the $4.050 billion for the

          7  project.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Brings you to the

          9  four what?

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: $4.050 billion, which is

         11  the revised estimate for the project, including a

         12  required addition of reserves identified by the FTA.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Oh, okay.  I thought

         14  the earlier estimate for that segment of the 2nd

         15  Avenue Line was already $4.1 billion.

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: No.  The estimate that

         17  we had before going into our discussions with the

         18  FTA in fall of 2006 was $3.38 billion (sic).

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: 3.38 or 3.8?

         20                 MR. LANIGAN: 3.838.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. $3.8 billion.

         22                 MR. LANIGAN: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I mean, just a

         24  minute ago we talked about how we were still short

         25  $800 million dollars and that we had 3.3 in there.
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: 3.8 was the prior

          3  estimate, that's correct.  I'm sorry, I quite

          4  understand the confusion that you are trying to

          5  parse through here.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  You are

          7  saying originally on the date of the ground-

          8  breaking, it was expected that this segment would

          9  cost $3.8 billion?

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: That was the estimate

         11  prior to the finalization of our discussions with

         12  the FTA as we are going in to finalizing our grant

         13  application with them, that's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay so $3.8 billion

         15  and now we are expecting that that segment will cost

         16  $4.05 billion.  So another one-quarter billion

         17  dollars.

         18                 MR. LANIGAN: 4.050, that is correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So now how

         20  much are we short?  Are we still short $800 million

         21  or are we now short $1.05 billion?

         22                 MR. LANIGAN: The next program will

         23  need about a billion dollars to complete the

         24  project.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON: Okay.  So the federal
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          2  requirement to increase the amount of money required

          3  for this project, I mean, it was just a minimal

          4  adjustment.  It wasn't like a huge adjustment that

          5  they were requiring.

          6                 MR. LANIGAN: No, no it was not.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And then with regard

          8  to Eastside Access, is any of that funded?

          9                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes. We received the

         10  full funding grant agreement for that project --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: From the federal

         12  government.

         13                 MR. LANIGAN: -- From the federal

         14  government of $2.6 billion.  That was last December.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Of 3.6, is that what

         16  you just said?

         17                 MR. LANIGAN: It's $6.3 billion --

         18  $6.4 billion project, the full funding grant

         19  agreement is $2.632 billion.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Great. We have

         21  questions from Council Member Ignizio.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Thank you

         23  very much. Thank you gentlemen.  I recognize we are

         24  talking about extremely glamorous projects such as

         25  Eastside Access and 2nd Avenue lines and multi-
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          2  billion dollar and tens of billions dollar projects.

          3    The ones that my constituents are concerned aboutis

          4  obviously the ones being talked about for nearly 20

          5  years as well, the 3rd bus depot.

          6                 Can anybody update me?  My

          7  understanding is there was a commitment, which was

          8  made in my presence for 2003 design and build the

          9  contract for 2005 by your agency, which I've been

         10  there yesterday, there is no bus depot there.

         11                 My understanding is now that there is

         12  a promise for 2009.  My concern is that this too

         13  slips through and there is no bus depot there.  Is

         14  there any insight that you can give me to bereft me

         15  from thinking so?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: I can tell you that the

         17  current schedule is to award a design build contract

         18  later this year and completion is in fact expected

         19  in 2009 for Charleston Depot.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Right.  I

         21  have a picture.  So that is for it's fully funded in

         22  terms of New York transit City funds, as well as MTA

         23  funds?

         24                 MR. LANIGAN: Funding is in place in

         25  the current capital program, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Nearly a

          3  hundred million dollars, is that it?

          4                 MR. LANIGAN: I don't know the price

          5  off hand.

          6                 MR. LANIGAN: One hundred and ten is

          7  in the program now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: One hundred

          9  and ten million dollars.  And just to alleviate the

         10  concerns of my constituents, what would need to

         11  occur to derail something of that sort?

         12                 MR. LANIGAN: Well things may go

         13  wrong, but at this point we seem to be on tract.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: And the

         15  contracts are going out later this coming year?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes, July is the current

         17  estimate.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Okay.

         19  Obviously, we finally thank the agency for that, and

         20  we do appreciate it. I recognize the time line that

         21  we endured.

         22                 The upcoming capital plan, what is

         23  the criterion which is used for to incorporate some

         24  things, such as I recognize that in the proposed, I

         25  think it was capital plan, there was a new plea for
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          2  the Staten Island Rapid Transit, which is currently

          3  in there and upon speaking with MTA and their City

          4  transit officials the question is, well keeping it

          5  in is always the issue.

          6                 Can you tell me what criterion is

          7  used for things to be removed from the proposed

          8  five- year- capital plan or even the current capital

          9  plan.  Is there a prioritized order of these are our

         10  top ten projects.  These are our top twenty.  These

         11  are their top five by borough. Is there a criterion,

         12  which the New York City Transit/MTA uses?

         13                 MR. LANIGAN: In the plans, obviously

         14  it's a complex set of investment and the plans have

         15  taken multiple years to develop.  So, we usually

         16  start the planning process for a five- year plan

         17  about half way through the current plan and that

         18  process is underway.

         19                 The foundation for the plan is what

         20  we call the twenty- year needs assessment, which

         21  takes a look at the condition of all your assets and

         22  their replacement cycles. That really sets the basic

         23  priority for the selection of your projects.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Needs

         25  assessment.
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes.  You look at the

          3  replacement cycles, when these projects need to be

          4  replaced so we can ensure their functionality.  And

          5  that really sets the priorities, the basic

          6  priorities for your investments, as you go into the

          7  next program.  Obviously, we don't get all the money

          8   --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Sure.

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: -- That we would like to

         11  do the work.  So that array of needs helps guide you

         12  to select what's the most important to do, what to

         13  progress in the first instance.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Thank you

         15  very much. Thank you gentlemen.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         17  Member Ignizio.

         18                 We have been joined by Council Member

         19  Larry Seabrook from the Bronx and Council Member

         20  James Oddo from Staten Island.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, now just a few

         22  follow up questions.  A few months ago there was

         23  some news that the federal government was not coming

         24  through with their promised funding for security

         25  enhancements.  Has that been worked out or are we
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          2  still short money from the Feds?

          3                 MR. LANIGAN: I am not aware of any

          4  news where they were not coming --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sorry, could you

          6  just speak into the mic.

          7                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm sorry.  Yeah, I'm

          8  not aware of any news where they were not coming

          9  through.  I think when we spoke last on this topic

         10  we were looking at a proposal that actually enhanced

         11  the funding, security funding, which would assist

         12  the MTA and we are aggressively pursuing that.  So

         13  at this point in time, we are not making the

         14  presumption we are not going to hit our target for

         15  the program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  It's

         17  interesting the way you phrase that.  You haven't

         18  heard of any news that it's not coming.  Is it

         19  coming or is it not coming?

         20                 MR. LANIGAN: The legislation has not

         21  been finalized so we don't know exactly what next

         22  year's allocation is going to be.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So what's the total

         24  amount in this current Five-year Capital Plan that's

         25  been designated?
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: As we had this

          3  conversation a couple of months ago, we have about

          4  $500 million budgeted for security and the `05 - 09

          5  program and about $720 million budgeted in the old

          6   `04 program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, that's the

          8  overall security program, is that correct or is that

          9  just federal funding?

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: No, that's all of it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. But

         12  that's federal funding not just for security.  Not

         13  as just part of the security program.  The whole

         14  security program right now stands at $1.1 billion,

         15  doesn't it?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct, 720 in the old

         17  program and 500 in this program.

         18                 Council Member I believe that you are

         19  referring to the assumption that we have in our

         20  current --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's $500 million,

         22  right.

         23                 MR. LANIGAN: -- It was some $500

         24  million for the federal government.  That was an

         25  assumption made on the part of MTA that was not a
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          2  commitment, made on the part of the federal

          3  government.  We are still negotiating with the

          4  federal government.  We have not dropped that

          5  funding out of our plan, nor have we stopped

          6  progressing on the projects.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So the $600

          8  million that was put in place like late `02, early

          9   `03 and then the additional $500 million as part of

         10  this current private capital plan, that's still on

         11  tract.  It's moving ahead, even though the federal

         12  funds, as part of that $1.1 billion dollars have not

         13  come through yet.

         14                 MR. LANIGAN: The most critical

         15  security projects are moving ahead.  We've had our

         16  Director of Security working with the agencies

         17  prioritizing the projects so that we don't delay the

         18  need for a critical project.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well prioritizing

         20  the projects somehow may mean that not all the

         21  projects are able to go through, go forth, because

         22  the funding is not available.

         23                 Is that what you mean by prioritizing

         24  the projects?

         25                 MR. LANIGAN: No, I'm sure you
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          2  appreciate the fact that we walk a fine line when we

          3  make the assumption in the plan and it was a

          4  conservative, realistic assumption that the federal

          5  government would step up and provide some additional

          6  funding to the MTA for security.  When we make that

          7  assumption and we move forward with a contract, we

          8  always run the risk of supplanting with the federal

          9  government to say we are not funding a project that

         10  you have already funded.  And that's a balance that

         11  we have to make at the MTA to continue to progress

         12  the security needs and at the same time,

         13  aggressively pursue funding from the federal

         14  government.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  That's fine

         16  and dandy and I won't continue with this, but again

         17  we are talking about $500 million a significant

         18  amount which had actually been assumed when the MTA

         19  in front of the Transportation Committee here

         20  announced in I believe January or February of 2003,

         21  I'm sorry, it was March of 2003 at the Preliminary

         22  Budget Hearings that the MTA was going ahead and

         23  because of security concerns investing $600 million

         24  dollars, 592 to be exact, million dollars to enhance

         25  security.  And out of that the MTA clearly assumed a
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          2  few hundred million dollars of federal funding.

          3                 So, you know, it's not like there's a

          4  delay of a few months, a delay of a year, it's like

          5  four years later and the federal government still

          6  hasn't come through. So I appreciate that the MTA

          7  has to aggressively pursue those funds.  But this is

          8  not walking a fine line anymore. This is like four

          9  years later the money is still not there. And we are

         10  not talking about a couple of million dollars, we're

         11  talking about a few hundred million dollars.

         12                 Either the MTA is now replacing that

         13  missing money with MTA funds that really were mean

         14  for other projects or those security enhancements

         15  are delayed.  Which is?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN:  Well, as you know the

         17  MTA has progressed critical security needs with it's

         18  own funds as part of the `05 -`09 program.  That was

         19  the $141 million that was put in last year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well just try to get

         21  the money quickly.  Look, I'm happy to help put some

         22  more pressure on our Members of Congress and what

         23  have you to get the funding in place.  But we can't

         24  just keep waiting around hoping that it will

         25  materialize.
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: We appreciate your

          3  support on that and we want to assure you we're not

          4  just waiting around.  Again, we are progressing the

          5  most critical projects and we are aggressively

          6  pursuing the federal government and each support or

          7  help you can give we greatly appreciate it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  And then as

          9  part of the congestion pricing plan that Mayor

         10  Bloomberg has proposed, they talk about creating the

         11  SMART board, getting the SMART board.  Now, from a

         12  budgetary prospective do you gentlemen have any

         13  opinion on what if any impact the creation of a

         14  separate SMART board would have on the MTA finances?

         15                 MR. LANIGAN: In terms of the overall

         16  proposal that the Mayor had advanced.  The MTA had

         17  applauded the program on two fronts, which was the

         18  need to identify alternatives to the congestion that

         19  we are seeing on our roadways and through advanced

         20  mass transit and also to continue to identify

         21  funding sources that are needed to move these

         22  projects forward.

         23                 Having said that, there have been

         24  several conversations that a policy level with City

         25  representatives and representatives of the MTA, but
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          2  that has not worked its way down to the level of

          3  implementation yet where the budget level I can

          4  discuss with you what I think the impact would be on

          5  the MTA's Operating or Capital Budget.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How much is a

          7  current contribution from City funds towards the

          8  operating funds of the MTA?  Like maybe seven or

          9  eight hundred million? Something like that.

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm not certain what

         11  their total contribution is.

         12                 MR. CHUBAK: (Not identified for the

         13  record.) We get reimbursements for specific items.

         14  We get a contribution for para transit, we get fare

         15  reimbursement --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's what I mean.

         17                 MR. CHUBAK: -- For students and

         18  senior citizens --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the private bus

         20  companies, the formerly private bus companies.

         21                 MR. CHUBAK: Right. I speak only for

         22  New York City Transit, but you are right, they do

         23  cover the subsidies for the private buses.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is there anybody to

         25  speak for MTA bus company?
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm sorry, the MTA bus

          3  company the support is roughly in the area of $200

          4  million last year.  At that time we did not have all

          5  of the buses on board, nor if we fully have the

          6  auditors come in and fully closed our books.  But

          7  it's in the range of a $200 million contribution.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well let me just go

          9  out on a limb.  I think it's around seven or $800

         10  million.  Lois is nodding her head so that's got to

         11  mean that's it.

         12                 MR. CHUBAK: I don't believe it's that

         13  much all told for operating.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, sure, for the

         15  student bus passes, for the para transit, for a few

         16  other special programs that the City reimbursed the

         17  MTA for, it was about, between 400 and $500 million.

         18    And now with the addition of the formerly private

         19  bus companies, we are now at like in the 700 to $800

         20  million range.  That's what it is.

         21                 MR. CHUBAK: I won't argue.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         23                 Okay. So, now, if the City is able to

         24  work with the MTA and get the transit improvements

         25  out on the street, like in the next year or two,
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          2  because that's the time frame that Mayor Bloomberg

          3  envisioned, the contribution to the MTA operating

          4  funds would be significantly increased. And that

          5  could be done through the SMART Board or through

          6  City funds.

          7                 Is there any compelling reason that

          8  the SMART Board would make it more convenient to

          9  transfer the funds over to MTA or it really doesn't

         10  make any difference to the MTA, the contribution to

         11  the operating funds is a contribution whether it

         12  comes from a separate SMART Board or it comes from

         13  the City coffers.

         14                 MR. LANIGAN: Clearly a priority is to

         15  receive the funding, the mechanism would be

         16  secondary.  But, again, the policy discussions are

         17  still underway on what the specific impact of a

         18  SMART fund versus a direct City subsidy or some

         19  other mechanism would be.  So it would be

         20  inappropriate for me to take a position on that at

         21  this point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. And then

         23  Commissioner Sadik-Khan testified that the creation

         24  of a SMART Board would actually increase the bonding

         25  limitations or lift the bonding limitations that the
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          2  City currently has, presumably because there is a

          3  new revenue stream coming through. Now, do you think

          4  that may have an impact on the MTA's bonding

          5  capability if the separate SMART Board was created

          6  and the SMART Board began to issue their own bonds?

          7                 MR. LANIGAN:  Again, I don't think

          8  that would have a major impact on the MTA, but I've

          9  not seen any type of analysis on it. I know the City

         10  would have to have its ceiling lifted in order to

         11  allow additional funding of that bonding, if that's

         12  the mechanism that is chosen.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Just two more

         14  relatively quick questions.  One has to do with the

         15  Pay Pass system that the MTA has been working on a

         16  pilot program for.  My understanding is that the

         17  pilot program is finished.

         18                 MR. KULBERG: (Not identified for the

         19  record.) The first stage of the pilot is basically

         20  done, yes. And we are now making plans to do a

         21  second pilot test.  Well, the first test was done

         22  only on the subway and only for individual ride

         23  Metro cards.  We are now looking to do a test that

         24  would go to the bus system, as well, and also to

         25  test passes, weekly passes or monthly passes, that
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          2  sort of an application.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So how much would

          4  you say that the MTA has invested in this so far?

          5                 MR. KULBERG: We haven't paid for it.

          6  The costs so far have been covered by our partners.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So then you

          8  mean the owner is like Citibank and MasterCard.

          9                 MR. KULBERG: Citibank.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is it just Citibank

         11  or is it Citibank and MasterCard?

         12                 MR. KULBERG: No, it's really just

         13  Citibank.  Although, at some point we are looking to

         14  test the functionality of other bank cards, as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Oh, is that right?

         16                 MR. KULBERG: I believe so, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are there other

         18  banks that issue Master Cards?

         19                 MR. KULBERG: I don't know for sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Then I guess

         21  the next stage, the next pilot program would be

         22  funded at least partially by the MTA?

         23                 MR. KULBERG: At some point, if a

         24  decision is made to go system-wide, then in fact

         25  some capital funding might be required. For starters
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          2  it would depend on the actual deal that's worked out

          3  again with the banking partners.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

          5                 MR. KULBERG: But at some point

          6  investment by the MTA may be needed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And it's not just

          8  capital. There would be operating funds involved,

          9  too?

         10                 MR. KULBERG: It depends on the actual

         11  arrangement.  If for example Pay Pass replaced other

         12  media, the Metro Card today or cash on buses, if

         13  that happened then there might be off-sets.  But if

         14  you introduce Pay Pass without taking away any of

         15  those things, then you are probably right, there

         16  might be some operating costs, as well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So in next

         18  year's budget we're looking at $44 million that's

         19  been allocated in operating funds for the Pay Pass.

         20                 MR. KULBERG: I'm not aware of that

         21  number.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  I mean, if

         23  you're not aware of that number, then we'll give you

         24  the benefit of the doubt, but it does --

         25                 MR. KULBERG: I'm being told that is
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          2  actually in the Council's Budget?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, you are saying

          4  its capital.  SMART card implementation $43.9

          5  million in 2007.

          6                 MR. LANIGAN: That is correct.  There

          7  are some funds being held aside in the capital

          8  program not the operating program.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. And now the

         10  question then becomes, if we look what London and

         11  other cities have done, it appears that they have

         12  actually not paid any money for this new fare

         13  collection system, but in fact they have actually

         14  generated revenues, mostly from advertising and

         15  other license fees; is that something that we can

         16  look at for the MTA, so that we can use the $44

         17  million to maybe rehab a subway station or two and

         18  not use our own money to install the system?

         19                 MR. LANIGAN: In the absence of

         20  finalizing how you are going to do this, you don't

         21  know what you are going to spend or not spend.  It

         22  is also true that whatever London did may have

         23  required basic asset or infrastructure investments

         24  on their own.  But, again, you don't know and it's

         25  very possible what you say may turn out to be true.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's not only the

          3  capital outlay that is still out there.  But it's

          4  also the way in which, based on our understanding,

          5  the way in which the Pay Pass system would work even

          6  with Citibank and MasterCard or with other banks

          7  that issue MasterCard, the MTA would still have to

          8  pay that percentage.

          9                 In other words, if someone bought a

         10  $10 Metro card with their credit card or -- I'm

         11  sorry, paid $10 worth of fares with this SMART card,

         12  or this Pay Pass, then the MasterCard would get a

         13  cut of it, and so that does have a cost impact on

         14  the MTA itself.

         15                 MR.LANIGAN: That might be the case.

         16  That's currently the case for credit card usage at

         17  our MBM machines, as well.  Honestly, we haven't

         18  really gotten to this final stage yet.  We are still

         19  looking at the options and hoping to run the next

         20  pilot to see if this thing works.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The next pilot is

         22  going out for bidding in the short term; is that

         23  correct?

         24                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm not sure if bidding

         25  is the right word.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Is there no

          3  bid on it then?

          4                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm not the expert on

          5  this, but I believe we are going forward with our

          6  current partner.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, going forth

          8  with our current partner means that there is not

          9  another bidding, that the people who did the first

         10  stage are now given the rights to do the second

         11  stage.

         12                 I mean, this is an issue we would

         13  look at and we would ask you to look at also, to see

         14  what could be done to save every penny of both

         15  capital and expense funds for improving the buses

         16  and subways directly and to the extent that we can

         17  actually squeeze revenues, advertising in otherwise,

         18  other kinds of revenues from this kind of system, we

         19  should look to see what other cities are doing,

         20  specifically London?

         21                 MR. LANIGAN: I agree with you. In

         22  fact, our people have investigated what other cities

         23  have done.  No final decision has been made going

         24  forward, but certainly having as low a cost as

         25  possible of collecting fares is going to be one of

                                                            124

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEES

          2  our objectives.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Even though you say

          4  no final decision has been made, the fact is that

          5  the second pilot program is going ahead.  So if the

          6  second stage of the pilot program is going ahead as

          7  is, then there is not going to be a real ability to

          8  assess the potential to generate revenues, as

          9  opposed to pay out expenses.

         10                 So if there is anything that can be

         11  done I think now is the time.  I don't think it's

         12  too late to change how the MTA is going about this

         13  SMART card, Pay Pass deal.

         14                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm really not the right

         15  person to answer your questions but we would be

         16  happy afterwards to have them contact you actually

         17  to discuss this more fully.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We bring this up

         19  because we talk about billions and billions of

         20  dollars of capital, as well as operating money, but

         21  at the end of the day even something that cost $44

         22  million in capital outlays or requires $20 - to $50

         23  million in credit card fees, as the cut received by

         24  MasterCard, that all adds up.  So let's pay close

         25  attention to that.
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          2                 And then my last question would be on

          3  the bridge tolls.  Last month in the Rockaways we

          4  had a discussion about whether the tolls on the

          5  current pay bridge in South Queens could be

          6  eliminated.  And the answer was it could not be

          7  eliminated because of bond covenants; is that really

          8  true or is that a revenue issue?

          9                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm not sure who you had

         10  that discussion with, Councilman.  And I am not

         11  familiar with the covenants. So, I don't know. Could

         12  you tell me who you had that conversation with?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, you guys

         14  weren't there.  There was another official from the

         15  MTA.  Lois probably remembers.  The name slips my

         16  mind right now.

         17                 MS. TENLER: Kathy Sweeney?

         18                 MR. LANIGAN: I think Sweeney.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And so the question

         20  was raised, given that that bridge is the only

         21  bridge that the people who live on that peninsula

         22  can take just to get home.  Is there any way to

         23  eliminate the toll on that bridge.  The reason given

         24  was that the bond covenants prohibit that.

         25                 Let me ask you a more general
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          2  question then. Do bond covenants on the bridge toll

          3  revenues absolutely prohibit the removal of those

          4  bridge tolls?

          5                 MR. LANIGAN: If Kathy Sweeney said

          6  that there is a bond covenant issue, she is

          7  qualified to make that assessment, number one. And

          8  number two, there are significant discounts that

          9  people in the Rockaways do receive on that bridge, I

         10  believe; is that correct?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, that takes

         12  care of the people who actually live on the

         13  peninsula, but it does nothing for the economic

         14  development of that peninsula, because then people

         15  are deterred from going there.

         16                 So, your testimony is that you don't

         17  know much about that and that you defer to Kathy

         18  Sweeney.

         19                 MR. LANIGAN:  Only what I've shared.

         20  If there is anything contrary to that, I will

         21  certainly contact your office.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. All right.  I

         23  give up for now.  We want to thank the Metropolitan

         24  Transportation Authority officials for joining us

         25  today at our Budget Hearings and we look forward to
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          2  seeing you coming back often.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The Finance

          4  Committee is going to take a five-minute recess and

          5  we will reconvene with the Department of Education

          6  in approximately five minutes.

          7                 (Hearing concluded 12:15 p.m.)
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